TETRAHEDRON REPORT NUMBER 184

TOTAL SYNTHESIS OF POLYCARBOCYCLIC SESQUITERPENES

A SURVEY OF NOVEL METHODS AND REACTIONS

MAURITS VANDEWALLE and PIERRE DE CLERCQ
Department of Organic Chemistry, State University of Ghent, Laboratory for Organic Synthesis,
Krijgslaan 281 (S.4), B-9000 Gent, Belgium

(Received 6 April 1984)

CONTENTS

Introduction													1767
I. Fused Systems													1768
1. The bicyclo[4.4.0]decane or decalin group	•		•	٠	٠	٠	٠	٠	•	٠	٠	•	1/08
2. The bicyclo[3.3.0] octane or di- and triquinane group	٠	•	•	٠	•	٠	٠	٠	٠	•	•	٠	1///
3. The bicyclo[4.3.0] nonane or hydrindane group	•			٠		-	٠	-	٠	٠	٠	-	1785
4. The bicyclo[5.3.0]decane or perhydroazulene group													1787
5. The bicyclo[5.4.0]undecane group	•			٠	•	•	٠	٠	٠	٠	•	•	1792
II. Spirocyclic Systems													
1. The [5.4]decane and [5.5]undecane group	•		•	٠	•	٠	٠	•	٠	٠	•	٠	1793
III. Bridged Systems													1801
1. The bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane and bicyclo[3.1.1]heptane group													
2. The tricarbocyclic systems													
IV. Isolated Rings													1813
V. Introduction of Functionalized Side Chains													1820

INTRODUCTION

The polycarbocyclic sesquiterpenes represent a large body of naturally occurring substances which are usually subdivided according to their carbon framework.¹ The wide diversity in structural type, in functionality pattern and in stereochemistry offers a variety of target molecules to the synthetic chemist. The structural characteristics as well as the biological properties have indeed for decades stimulated active synthetic research in this area. The consequence has been a flood of publications describing total synthesis of many members in the different series. Among others, two excellent and exhaustive reviews covering, respectively, the periods up to the middle of 1970^{2a} and 1970–1979^{2b} have been published by Heathcock et al.

The object of this report is to review novel or improved approaches to the main classes of polycarbocyclic sesquiterpenes disclosed since 1973 and up to the end of 1983. In selecting material for inclusion, it was not always possible to distinguish new methods or reactions falling strictly within the scope of the title; evidently several methods have emanated from discoveries in other areas or from work on model compounds. We have therefore limited ourselves to those methods found in publications, describing total syntheses of polycarbocyclic sesquiterpenes. Relay- and hemisyntheses and work on model compounds have, as a general rule, not been included. The report concentrates practically exclusively on the construction of fused and bridged polycarbocyclic systems carrying 5-, 6- and 7-membered rings. Methods for attaching cyclopropane and cyclobutane rings are not discussed, except when these small rings are formed concomitant with one of the above mentioned carbocycles. Also approaches to aromatic sesquiterpenes are not covered.

Among the different features of a total synthesis, the phase during which the carbocyclic framework is assembled represents in general the most salient aspects of the sequence. We have therefore made the decision to centre the discussion around the key-steps involved in constructing the polycyclic system. Only in some cases we will indicate the transformations leading to the crucial precursor and the

subsequent steps to individual natural substances. In this way it is possible to cover the work published during the last 10 years within a reasonable space. This will allow the reader to compare the different strategies which have evolved during the crucial stages for assembling the same or closely related carbocyclic frameworks. With this goal in mind we have also incorporated novel applications of well-established methodologies in order to allow an appreciation of the evolution in synthetic methodology. The overall efficiency of the different multi-step sequences leading to the natural products is therefore not a point of debate in this report.

The large diversity in structural type and in the synthetic methodology on the one hand and the varying number of publications for the several classes of polycarbocyclic sesquiterpenes on the other hand, does not allow us to organize the different sections in the same way. A description of the structural characteristics within all subclasses is far beyond the coverage of this report. In order to help the reader to orientate himself a limited amount of structural information is provided. The structures of recently discovered natural substances will be presented in context with the new methods developed for their synthesis. Because of the overall objective of this report an attempt has been made to group, in the different sections, a number of methods under a common heading. Annulation methods, during which a ring is attached on a pre-existing system, are generally recognized as such when the two new carbon-carbon bonds are formed in timely related processes. They can be simultaneous, consecutive, or separated by only a few refunctionalization steps necessary for the final cyclization. When a large number of steps separate both carbon-carbon bond formations, the concept of annulation is no longer adequate and emphasis will then be laid up on the cyclization process. In another important strategy for constructing polycarbocyclic systems, the crucial step(s) involve(s) modification of a preformed different polycyclic framework. During such approaches, frequently, use is made of strained molecules as intermediates which greatly facilitates the structural rearrangement. Many recent efficient syntheses offer illustrations of this principle.

The last section is devoted to some selected formations of functionalized side chains, which are subsequently involved in cyclization processes or are present as such in natural substances. Because of our arbitrary decision to review carbon-carbon bond formations, syntheses involving mainly functional group transformations on previously known polycarbocycles cannot be included.

I. FUSED SYSTEMS

1. The bicyclo[4.4.0] decane or decalin group

The bicyclo[4.4.0] decane framework is found in four main subclasses, the eudesmanes 1.1, eremophilanes 1.2, cadinanes 1.3 and drimanes 1.4, and in valerane 1.5, valeranone 1.6, the norcadinane, khusitene 1.7 and in β -gorgonene 1.8. It is also present in some polycyclic sesquiterpenes; approaches towards the tricyclic system 1.9 will be included in this section when a cyclohexane ring is formed together with the cyclopropane ring. Formation of natural substances containing a benzene ring is not discussed.

The Robinson annulation and related methods. Upon comparing approaches reviewed in refs. 2a and 2b respectively, one realizes that prior to 1970 almost invariably the angularly substituted decalin nucleus has been constructed via Robinson annulation and that only recently a gradual shift towards other methods is observed. The problems associated with the efficiency, the regio- and stereocontrol of

Scheme 1.

both steps in this annulation, have been adequately discussed elsewhere³ and cannot be dealt with at length in this report. A limiting factor is related to the stereochemistry of the initial alkylation step when 2,x-dialkylcyclohexanones are the substrates. Robinson annulation of 2,5-disubstituted cyclohexanones, e.g. 2.1, affords mainly the diastereoisomer 2.2 with both substituents axial. Therefore applications for the synthesis of eudesmanes, with an equatorial β C-7 substituent, were directed via intermediates in which the desired three-carbon side chain was introduced at a later stage, with the possibility for C-7 equilibration to the more stable configuration. Intermediates, obtained via direct Robinson annulation and which are still being used or newly constructed since 1973, are the bicyclic enones 2.5 to 2.13.4-11 Huffman and Hillenbrand¹² have recently demonstrated that annulation involving the anion of the more acidic 2.3 affords mainly the trans isomer 2.4 α although previously the sole formation of 2.4 β had been claimed.¹³ An efficient approach to the 7- β eudesmane series has been reported by Caine and Gupton.¹⁴ Steric hindrance of the endo methyl group on the cyclopropane ring in (-)-2-carone (2.14) ensures exclusive alkylation from the α -face. Subsequent acid treatment of 2.15 causes cyclopropane ring opening and aldolization to 2.16. In a somewhat similar concept the bicyclic ketone thujone has been used as a chiral synthon for the synthesis of eudesmanes via 2.12.11 Subsequent to C-6 functionalization the cyclopropane ring is opened.

It is generally observed that reaction of cyclohexanone enolates with alkyl vinyl ketones in aprotic medium produces the adducts in low yields because of polymerization of the enone and/or polyalkylation. Stork and Ganem¹⁵ have circumvented these problems using α -silylvinyl ketones; the silicon atom stabilizes the initial Michael adduct. This method has been used to construct, inter alia, 2.6 (60%) and 3.9 (44%). A remarkable improvement, recently described by Ziegler and Hwang¹⁶ is illustrated by the synthesis of 2.2. The thermodynamic enolate of 2.1, formed with 0.9 equiv. LDA in THF at 20°, reacts with ethyl vinyl ketone ($-78^{\circ} \rightarrow 20^{\circ}$) to the bicyclic ketol (92%), dehydration with KOH-EtOH then produces 2.2 (93%). Although the reaction of 2.1 with methyl vinyl ketone is less efficient, this procedure also represents a substantial improvement. Application of the eudesmane precursor 2.13 has in the past been thwarted by the failure of the Robinson annulation to provide a viable route to this enone. The acid-catalyzed annulation produced preferentially the bridged enone upon aldol cyclization. Still and Van Middlesworth¹⁷ have now observed that reaction of 2,6-dimethylcyclohexanone and methyl vinyl ketone can be stopped at the 1,5-diketone stage (50-58%) when conducted at 0° in H₂SO₄-benzene. High yield (87%) had previously been reported for the NaOEt-catalyzed cyclization of this 1,5-diketone to 2.13.

Also the evolution of eremophilane syntheses has heavily drawn on the Robinson annulation. Earlier investigations have shown that the crucial *cis* relationship of the C-4 and C-5 methyl groups is obtained under kinetically controlled conditions; e.g. reaction of 3.1 with 3-penten-2-one affords (\pm)-7-epinootkatone 3.2 and (\pm)-nootkatone 3.3 in a 9:1 ratio. ¹⁸ Piers ¹⁹ has shown that additional substitution on the cyclohexanone influences the conformation and hence the result of the annulation; depending on the conditions 3.4 and 3.5 can be obtained in ratios up to 1:1. ²⁰ It may be noted that the

annulation procedure is unsuccessful when the cyclohexanone carries a 4-acrylic ester group.²¹ The problem for obtaining β C-7 substitution can be solved by the intermediacy of 3.6, 22 3.7, 23 3.8²⁴ or 3.9, 25 Several of these decalins have already been described previously. Zoretic et al. 24 have shown that acidcatalyzed (H₂SO₄-benzene, reflux) Robinson annulation of 2,3-dimethylcyclohexanone affords 3.8 as the major isomer (ratio > 9:1, 30%), this represents an improvement compared to the base-catalyzed procedure on the same cyclohexanone. Two groups²⁶ have recently reported the synthesis of the important (+)-nootkatone (3.3) starting from nopinone (3.10). In order to ensure stereoselectivity a large number of transformations separate the initial "alkylation" and cyclization steps.

Novel annulation methods have been described, which enable construction of ring B together with elements of a y-lactone or furan ring. These approaches, which provide highly functionalized eudesmanolide precursors, feature 1,6-additions and vinylogous aldol type cyclizations. Yoshikoshi et al.27 described the novel annulation reagent 4.1, which however only reacts with weak basic enolate anions derived from β -keto esters and 1,3-diketones. In the case shown, subsequent condensation produces the diastereoisomers 4.2 (kinetic product) and 4.3 in a 2:1 ratio.

Schultz and Godfrey²⁸ developed an efficient 3-step synthesis of the interesting annulation reagent 4.5. 1,6-Addition of 4.5 on the enol ether 4.4 leads to 4.6. Base-catalyzed aldolization and dehydration with concomitant C-8 equilibration provides the linear tricyclic lactone 4.7.

The cadinane intermediate 5.2 has been constructed via annulation of 5.1 with ethyl acetoacetate; the equilibration conditions assure formation of 5.2 as the more thermodynamically stable product.²⁹ In an approach to lactonic cadinanes, Dreiding³⁰ applied an intramolecular Reformatsky-type reaction for the simultaneous formation of the cyclohexane and α-methylene-butyrolactone rings. Cisfused lactones are formed; starting from 5.3 only 5.4 is isolated, while 5.5 produces both α (45%) and β (21%) lactones 5.6.

Diels-Alder reactions. The intermolecular version 31 for assembling angularly methylated decalins from substituted cyclohexenones as dienophiles has found limited application in the past. This is due to the known reluctance of α - and, especially β -alkyl substituted cyclohexenones to react with dienes. The problem can be circumvented via an angular methoxy-carbonyl substituent 32 (e.g. 6.1; R = H or Me); however, its transformation into a methyl group considerably lowers the overall efficiency. An improved application makes use of the more reactive Danishefsky diene; e.g. 6.2 is formed in 50-60% yield at 200°. 33 Kitahara et al. 34 observed a dramatic increase in the yield (93%) for the formation of 6.3 when the reaction is catalyzed by aluminium chloride (0.1 equiv. to dienophile).

Scheme 4

Eto
$$\frac{1}{0}$$
 $\frac{1}{5.1}$ $\frac{1}{5.2}$ $\frac{1}{5.2}$ $\frac{1}{5.2}$ $\frac{1}{5.2}$ $\frac{1}{5.2}$ $\frac{1}{5.3}$ $\frac{2n/cu}{63\%}$ $\frac{7}{5.4}$ $\frac{1}{5.5}$ $\frac{1}{5.6}$

Scheme 5.

Another solution for the synthesis of angularly methylated decalins has been provided by Corey and Watt.³⁵ The exceptional "inverse electron demand" Diels-Alder reaction between the α -pyrone 6.5 and 6.4 affords 6.6, which upon extrusion of CO_2 leads to 6.7. The remarkable regioselectivity appears to be due to the intervention of the enol form 6.4′ as the true dienophilic partner. Consistent with this argument, cyclohexenes lacking the carbonyl function in 6.4 fail to react as they do not possess the electron-donating power of the dienol 6.4′. The eremophilane precursors 6.8^{36a} and 6.9^{36b} have been constructed by Bohlmann et al. from the appropriate p-quinones and substituted dienes.

The intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction for assembling decalins has found increased application during the last decade. Its advantages over the intermolecular version with respect to regio- and especially stereochemical problems are presently well documented.³⁷ However, it should be noted that the overall efficiency is somewhat overshadowed by the problems in assembling the triene precursor. Indeed, despite considerable progress, stereospecific olefin synthesis is generally still more difficult than stereocontrol in cyclic systems. Several reports have described the formation of angularly methylated decalin systems. The eudesmane precursor 7.1 undergoes smooth cyclization to predominantly transfused epimers 7.2 (3:5 ratio OH axial:equatorial).³⁸ In the transition state leading to cis-fused

Scheme 8.

products there is a severe nonbonded interaction between the vinylic methyl on the diene and the 7-hydrogen atom. Taber and Saleh³⁹ have recently shown that upon replacing the TMS ether in 7.1 by a hydroxypropyl group (7.3) the 7-equatorial isomer 7.4 (α -eudesmol) dominates. Because of the ready availability of the acyclic triene 7.5 the approach developed by Näf et al.⁴⁰ represents an efficient route to eremophilanes and valencanes. Depending on the conditions, cyclization of 7.5 gives either a 1:1 mixture of fusion isomers 7.6 or only the cis-isomer by rapid epimerization of the kinetic trans-adduct. A transition state is assumed in which the secondary methyl group is in the more stable equatorial position.

The cadinane nuclei $8.2,^{41}$ 8.4^{42} and 8.6^{43} have been assembled starting respectively from trienes 8.1, 8.3 (via *endo* transition states) and 8.5. In Vig's (\pm)-khusitene synthesis, spontaneous cyclization of 8.7 leads to 8.8 as the most probable major isomer. An interesting route to C-6 oxygenated furanoeremophilanes, described by Jacobi *et al.* is based on the bis-heteroannulation strategy, involving the intramolecular version of Diels-Alder reactions on oxazoles. The acetylenic oxazole 8.9 cyclizes to a primary adduct which extrudes HCN, to produce (\pm)-ligularone (8.10). Also the corresponding acetylenic alcohol undergoes facile Diels-Alder reaction (84%).

Cationic olefin cyclizations and related reactions. Since the pioneering work of Stork,⁴⁶ Eschenmoser,⁴⁷ Johnson⁴⁸ and Van Tamelen⁴⁹ on biomimetic cyclizations of polyenes, the first applications in the decalin sesquiterpene area were mostly directed towards the drimane subclass.^{2a} More recently the synthesis of eudesmanes has been addressed. Wolinski et al.⁵⁰ described a new annulation via a consecutive acylation–cycloalkylation procedure. Reaction of 9.1 and 9.2 affords

Scheme 9.

stereoselectively the desired enone 9.4 next to 9.5, which most likely arises via hydride and methyl shifts from the cation formed upon ring closure of 9.3. The highly stereoselective formation of 9.7^{51a} and 9.9^{51b} has been reported by Marshall et al.; reaction of 9.6 presumably proceeds via the aldehyde.

Decalin 9.12⁵² is of interest; it provides an entry to eudesmanes with different functionality patterns than when starting from ketone 2.5. The cyclization, triggered by an enone, is carried out under conditions ensuring efficient nucleophilic capture of the bicyclic cation, rather than deprotonation to an alkene.

Pallescensin A (10.1), a non-isoprenoid sesquiterpene, has been obtained from 10.2^{53} and 10.3^{54} Cyclization of 10.3 produces 10.1 as the minor product next to the *cis*-fused isomer (ratio 1:2). The related Friedel—Crafts reaction of 10.4 is stereoselective; the ester function guarantees formation of the drimane skeleton 1.4 after decarboxylation of 10.5.⁵⁵ Recently Weiler *et al.*⁵⁶ extended Fleming's cyclization of allylsilanes to the synthesis of the drimane class. They demonstrated that the allylsilane group activates conjugated esters in polyene cyclizations; e.g. 10.8 (> 95% Z) produces isomers 10.9 in almost quantitative yield. Carboxylated Z-allylsilanes, such as 10.8 are obtained predominantly upon Ni(II) catalyzed coupling of Z-enol phosphonates (e.g. 10.7) of β -keto-esters with Grignard reagents.

1,4-Additions to cyclohexenones and enolate trapping (Scheme 11). The intramolecular variant of Stork's regiospecific alkylation ^{57.58} of an enolate, generated by conjugate addition to a cyclohexenone, has been at the origin of several approaches. The problem for constructing the angular cis-dimethyl substitution pattern of 1.5 has been addressed by Posner et al. ⁵⁹ Cuprate addition to 11.3 (from 11.1 via 11.2) introduces the methyl group trans to the isopropyl group; in the second step of the one-pot reaction, cycloalkylation produces 11.4. An application involving an intramolecular aldolization has been described by Näf et al. ⁶⁰ (11.5 to 11.6). Takahashi ⁶¹ constructs 11.10 via internal keto-ester condensation, subsequent to cuprate addition. The substrate 11.9 is obtained from dianion 11.8 which gives 1,2-addition reaction with enol ethers of cyclic 1,3-diketones such as 11.7 (R = H). It can be noted that reaction of 11.7 (R = Me) with 11.8 has been employed in furano-eremophilane synthesis. Although the syntheses of eremophilone reported by Ziegler ⁶² and by Ficini on the feature one-pot β and α bond formation as in the above cited examples they can be described here. The highly stereoselective 1,4-addition on respectively 11.11 and 11.16 and the final aldol cyclization are separated by a number of steps. In the Ziegler route the major preoccupation concerns the C-7 stereochemistry (11.13 \rightarrow 11.14). Ficini's approach centers around ring A formation in 11.18.

Cyclization involving radical or carbenoid intermediates (Scheme 12). Büchi and Wuest⁶⁴ reported an interesting β -agarofuran synthesis, involving radical promoted⁶⁵ cyclization of acetylenic silane 12.3 producing 12.4 as a 4:1 mixture. Cyclization of 12.2 failed, presumably because of the presence of the acetylenic hydrogen. In two syntheses^{66,67} of tricyclic sesquiterpenes possessing a fused cyclopropane ring, the skeleton is constructed via an intramolecular α -ketocarbene-olefin insertion of, respectively, 12.5 and 12.8. In McMurry's approach⁶⁶ the efficient oxidative decarboxylation of the carboxylic acid (from 12.6) in γ -position of the keto function is worth noting.

Bicyclo [4.4.0] decanes from other polycarbocyclic systems. New synthetic routes centre around the skeletal modification of preconstructed, different polycarbocyclic systems which have generally been assembled by a direct annulation process.

From bicyclo [2.2.2] octanes. In two imaginative approaches, the precursors 13.1 and 13.4 have been constructed via Diels-Alder reaction on cyclohexadienes. Gregson and Mirrington⁶⁸ described an application of the oxy-Cope rearrangement for the construction of the cadinane skeleton 13.3.

Scheme 13.

Unfortunately, this conceptually interesting method suffers from a lack of stereoselectivity during the synthesis of 13.2. The key-transformation in the Dastur⁶⁹ (\pm)-nootkatone synthesis involves acid-catalyzed ring opening of 13.5 followed by instant recyclization via a cationic-olefin mechanism. The relative stereochemistry of the three chiral centers is ensured by: (1) Diels-Alder addition of methyl acrylate trans to the secondary methyl (\rightarrow 13.4);(2) cyclization of 13.6 through a transition state with the oxy-isopropyl in equatorial position in order to minimize interaction with the methyl group.

From photochemically assembled precursors. The facile and versatile manipulation of the cyclobutane ring has been at the origin of several approaches in which the carbon atoms were initially assembled by the enone-alkene photocycloaddition reaction.⁷⁰

For the synthesis of the eudesmane and cadinane skeleton, piperitone (14.4) and the 2-cyclohexenones 14.5 and 14.6 are obvious starting materials to which the four carbon atoms of cyclobutenes 14.1, 14.2 or 14.3 are annulated upon irradiation at 350 nm. The yields observed with these 3-methylcyclohexenones are consistently within the range of 65–80%; the anti-adducts are formed predominantly.⁷¹

Starting from the unsymmetrically substituted olefins 14.1 and 14.2, the highly regioselective formation of adducts 14.7, $^{72.73}$ 14.14 74 and 14.19 74 is remarkable and indicates that electronic effects are superseded by steric factors. The addition occurs predominantly *trans* to the 6-substituent, when the latter is a sterically demanding group as in 14.4 and 14.6. 75 This is in accord with Wiesner's rule 76 and assumes an excited state *i* with a pyramidal β -carbon atom and reacting in its most stable conformation. The effect of the size of the 6-substituent is illustrated by the different stereoselectivity observed upon reaction of 14.3 with, respectively, 14.5 and 14.6; 75a adduct 14.11 is the major isomer (ratio 9:1) while the less space demanding group in 14.5 does not induce stereocontrol. However the sole formation of adduct 14.19 has been observed upon cycloaddition of 14.5 with 14.2. 74c

Adducts 14.7, 14.10 and 14.11 are suitable eudesmane precursors. In the Wender-Lechleiter^{72a} synthesis of 10-epijunenol (14.9) the 2,5-bond in 14.8 is cleaved upon reduction with lithium naphthalene radical anion. Vandewalle *et al.* have shown that 14.10^{71} and 14.11^{75} provide an entry into 1-oxygenated natural substances. Hydride reduction, TMS ether hydrolysis, periodate α -diol cleavage and isomerization of the *cis*-fused products provides intermediates 14.12 and 14.13 in 50-60% overall yield.

Several groups⁷²⁻⁷⁴ have studied the thermal rearrangement of the tricyclic photoadducts given in Scheme 14. Initial metathetical thermolysis of 14.14^{74a} and 14.7^{72c,d} produces cyclodecadienones 14.17

Scheme 15.

and 14.18 which, under the condition of their generation, undergo an ene-type ring closure leading to the cadinane precursors 14.15 and 14.16. The significant difference in yield suggests that, relative to the methyl group the ester unit may serve to facilitate the cycloreversion, activate the keto-function and stabilize the product. Similarly, thermolysis of 14.19 gives the lactone 14.20, plus 15% of the uncyclized hydroxy-ester. The same sequence has been applied on the methylene analogue 14.21 (from photoadduct 14.22) and provides in high yield 14.23, an intermediate in the Wender-Eck 24 synthesis of warburganal.

Baldwin et al.⁷⁷ studied the synthetic potential of photo-cycloadducts obtained from furanone 15.1; irradiation with 15.2 affords 15.3 plus 15% of the HH isomer. The construction of 15.7 was accomplished by the light-induced oxidative fragmentation of the nitrite ester 15.5 and aldolization of 15.6. Alternatively 15.7 could also be formed by a process initiated by Beckman fragmentation of the oxime of 15.3. The Cycloaddition with 15.1 is in fact an alternative for the de Mayo⁷⁸ reaction, involving the enol form of β -diketones, and has also been applied by Baldwin⁷⁹ for the construction of the valerane skeleton 15.12. These approaches provide a solution to the problem of constructing fused cyclohexenones with a functionality pattern as in 15.7 and 15.12 (see also Scheme 12). The K oft-Smith synthesis⁸⁰ of the cadinane, hibiscone C, is the first example of an intramolecular photocycloaddition of enones to acetylenic moieties. Irradiation of 15.13 gives a mixture of cis-trans (1:1.5) adducts 15.14. Subsequent ozonolysis to 15.15 and ring closure produce the furano compound 15.16. The Barton⁸¹ photochemical rearrangement of cross conjugated dienones, has been applied for the construction of tricyclodecanone 15.19. BF₃-mediated opening of the cyclopropyl ketone, followed by a 1,2-shift of the methyl group leads to dihydronootkatone 15.20.

Cyclopentane ring expansion of hydrindanones. Recently, Hiyama and Nozaki⁸³ have described a versatile ring-expansion procedure based on a β -oxido-carbenoid intermediate. Organolithium reaction on 16.1 affords 16.2 which, upon treatment with butyllithium, produces the carbenoid which selectively inserts into the olefinic and carbonyl carbon atoms of 16.1.

Scheme 16.

2. The bicyclo[3.3.0] octane or di- and triquinane group

The recent isolation of a number of sesquiterpenes based on fused cyclopentane rings has greatly stimulated the development of synthetic methods in this area. 84 The most inspiring target molecules are shown in Scheme 17.

Annulation methods. Matsumoto's 1974 total synthesis of 17.2, is the first reported successful approach to a naturally occurring triquinane. The route centres essentially on aldol cyclization of 1,4-diketones. In contrast to the 3-oxo-butyl side chain in the Robinson annulation, the 2-oxy-propyl side chain, required for a three-carbon annulation, is mostly introduced via a side chain containing a latent carbonyl function. Matsumoto formed 1,4-diketone 18.2 upon alkylation of ketone 18.1 with methallyl chloride and subsequent ozonolysis. Since then new methods became available for the formation of 2-oxo-alkyl side chains. Michael addition of silyl enol ethers, such as 18.4 to nitroolefins and subsequent mild hydrolysis affords 1,4-diketone 18.5 which can then be submitted to alkaline aldol cyclization. Other electrophilic three-carbon alkylating agents possessing a latent carbonyl function are: 18.6, 18.7, 18.8, 18.8, 18.9,

Scheme 18.

asymmetric induction in the intramolecular Wittig reaction. The side chain in 18.19 is introduced via Pd(0) directed C-alkylation of 18.17. Cyclization of the ylid formed with (+)-R-cyclohexyl-O-anisylmethyl phosphine, gives (+)-S-18.20 (with up to 77% e.e.). Brooks et al. 98 prepared the R-enantiomer of 18.20 by microbial reduction of a 2,2-disubstituted 1,3-cyclopentanedione and subsequent aldolization.

Danishefsky and Etheredge⁹⁹ described the new annulation reagent 19.1 for the construction of enediones of type 19.5. Michael reaction between 19.1 and 19.3 gives the α -diketo equivalent 19.4 which by treatment with p-TsOH undergoes decarboxylation and cyclization to 19.5. It is worth noting that, starting from the α -keto-aldehyde equivalent 19.2, the cyclization step fails. Central in the Leone-Bay-Paquette¹⁰⁰ synthesis of (\pm)-17.8 stands the annulation procedure originally described by Marfat and Helquist.¹⁰¹ The tandem conjugate addition, acid-promoted aldolization process is repeated during the transformation of 19.8 into 19.9.^{100,102} The method is suitable for the construction of vicinal quaternary centres.

Annulations based on keto-ester condensation have also been described. In Schlessinger's total synthesis¹⁰³ of 17.9, the diquinane nucleus is produced starting from vinylogous ester 19.10. Propenylation of the enolate anion, deprotonation with LDA and conjugate addition to diethyl fumarate gives 19.11 as a 1:1 epimeric mixture. Base-induced cyclization provides only the most stable isomer 19.12 (COOMe; equatorial), thus indicating epimerization during the process. Dauben and Walker¹⁰⁴ constructed the diquinane 19.13 via Weiss-Cook condensation¹⁰⁵ of dimethyl acetonedicarboxylate with an α -diketone; subsequent hydrolysis and decarboxylation yields 19.14 (76%). The modiphene intermediate 19.16 has also been obtained from 19.15 via this condensation.¹⁰⁶

Several cyclopentane ring formations are grouped in Scheme 20. Trost $et~al.^{107}$ developed a new three-carbon annulation based on 20.1. With sufficiently thermally stable enolate anions (as from 20.2) good yields of alkylation products are observed; the final step involves a fluoride-induced cyclization to 20.4. The annulating agent 20.6 reacts only with olefins bearing electron-withdrawing groups (20.5 \rightarrow 20.7). ¹⁰⁸ An alternative ¹⁰⁹ is based on the nucleophilicity of allylsilanes toward enones in the presence of a Lewis acid. EtAlCl₂-promoted reaction of 20.8 and 20.9 provides 20.10 which is cyclized to 20.11. While cyclohexenone gave an excellent result, cyclopentenone fails to react; in the latter case phenylthio-activation is necessary.

En route to hydroxylated capnellenols, Pattenden and Teague¹¹⁰ have assembled the triquinane skeleton via annulation of rings A and C on B. The first annulation involves conjugate addition, trapping as the enol acetate and subsequent cyclization of 20.13. Ring C is then constructed via alkylation with 2,4-dichloro-1-butene and transformation of the vinylic chloride to the acetylene in 20.15. Cyclization is effected using Stork's procedure;¹¹¹ best results are obtained upon titration of 20.15 with sodium naphthalene radical anion. A recent report¹¹² from the same laboratory showed that electrolysis of terminal allenic ketones 20.17 and 20.18 resulted in reductive cyclization, through the

Scheme 20.

exo-mode, producing respectively 20.19 (42%) and 20.20 (23%). During their synthesis of (\pm) 17.2, Trost et al. 113 effected ring closure of 20.21 to 20.22 using Stetter's method. 114 The in situ formation of an acyl anion equivalent for the intramolecular Michael reaction is achieved with the thiazonium salt in the presence of a base.

Exon and Magnus¹¹⁵ have examined the stereoselectivity of intramolecular alkene-alkyne dicobalt-octacarbonyl-mediated cyclopentenone formation. Substrate 21.1 yields 21.2 (79%) and 3% of the C-8 epimer (ratio 26:1). On the other hand, starting from 21.3 a 3.3:1 isomeric mixture, in favour of 21.4, is obtained. This remarkable difference in stereoselectivity implies that the terminal group, which is three carbon atoms removed from both new stereocentres, must exert the major influence on the stereochemical outcome. The origin of this effect is not known. Ley's strategy centres around an organoselenium-mediated cyclization.¹¹⁶ Intermediate 21.5, obtained (74%) via cuprate-conjugate addition on methyl-2-oxocyclopentane carboxylate, smoothly cyclizes upon treatment with N-phenylselenophtalimide and SnCl₄. The cyclization is not stereoselective and produces a 1:1 mixture of the anti- and syn-adducts 21.6 and 21.7. The phenylseleno group in 21.6 is then removed by reduction with Raney-nickel producing the (±)-hirsutene precursor 21.8.

Some recent applications for constructing diquinanes based on acid-catalyzed cycloacylation, cycloalkylation and on the Nazarov reaction are shown in Scheme 22. Lactone 22.2 is an intermediate

Scheme 21.

in the pentalenolactone synthesis of Danishefsky.¹¹⁷ Compounds 22.4¹¹⁸ and 22.6¹¹⁹ are intermediates in Paquette's approaches to triquinanes. Me₂CuLi addition to 22.6 provides an alternative synthesis of 20.14. The isomer 22.8 is a precursor for 17.6 used by Paquette and by Oppolzer (Scheme 23). The rather difficult accessibility of divinylketones (e.g. 22.5) as substrates for the Nazarov cyclization reaction ¹²⁰ is a drawback. Magnus et al. ¹²¹ have reported the use of vinyltrimethylsilane as an ethylene equivalent in reactions with α,β -unsaturated acid chlorides (such as 22.9) in the presence of a Lewis acid. The dienone intermediate is formed via the β -silyl carbenium ion and then enters into the Nazarov reaction yielding 22.10.

Thermal cyclizations. The intramolecular ene-reaction ¹²² has been applied by Oppolzer for the synthesis of (\pm) -17.7 and (\pm) -17.6. The strategy towards 17.7¹²³ is based on the formation of the 7,8-bond in 23.3. However, attempted methylation of 23.1 at the α -position, expected because of the bulky angular C-1 methyl group, fails. It was shown that deprotonation of 23.1 is disfavoured by specific

constraints of the pentalene system. The synthesis was therefore conducted via the homologous indenone 23.4 which affords 23.5 upon methylation. The crucial ene-reaction gives 23.6 in low yield, which indicates the steric congested nature of the transition state. Subsequently, the triquinane 23.7 is formed by photo-induced Wolff rearrangement of the α-diazo derivative of 23.6. Oppolzer's efficient synthesis 124 of 17.6 centres around the ene-reaction on the 1.6-diene 23.8, obtained from 22.8 via conjugate addition, enolate trapping with PhSeBr and the oxidation-elimination procedure. The stereochemistry of 23.9 is based on the observation that 1,6-dienes containing the H-donor site cis with regard to the enophilic chain furnish on thermal cyclization, exclusively 5-membered rings with cispositioned H-donor and acceptor sites. In Paquette's 125 synthesis of 17.6, the skeleton is formed via the Conia cyclization. 126 The precursors 23.10 and 23.12 were obtained from 22.8 by conjugate addition using the Yamamoto procedure.¹²⁷ Although, starting from the acetylene 23.10, the exocyclic olefin is the kinetic product, facile isomerization to 23.11 occurs. Thermolysis of 23.12 leads to the epimodhephene skeleton 23.13, as mechanistically the process is an ene-reaction on the enol form. The same group⁹¹ also reported the synthesis of stereohomogeneous 23.15. The Oppolzer and Bättig¹²⁸ synthesis of 17.5 centres around the intramolecular "type I-magnesium ene"-reaction. 129 The congested 4.11 bond in cyclopentane 23.17 is formed upon heating the alkenylmagnesium chloride obtained from 23.16, followed by addition of acrolein. A second thermal reaction at the stage of 23.18 occurs smoothly at room temperature; subsequent trapping with O₂ gives a 3:2 mixture of 6,10cis.trans 23.19.

Dreiding developed the α -alkynone cyclization for the formation of fused 5-membered ring systems. Alkynyl alkyl ketones 24.1, having at least one β' -H atom, thermally cyclize to 2-cyclopentenones 24.3. The process forms a new C—C bond at a non-activated β' -C atom and causes a [1.2]-shift of an acetylenic substituent and is therefore explained by the intermediacy of an alkylidenecarbene 24.2, which inserts into the β' C—H bond. The regionselectivity is in order of tertiary > secondary > primary β' -C atoms but is also subject to conformational factors and steric inhibition thus resulting in the formation of isomers when several β' -H atoms are available. This is illustrated by the cyclization of 24.4, 131 giving 24.5, 24.6 and 24.7 in a 2:1:1 ratio and of 24.8 2132 giving 24.9 and 24.10 in a 45:55 ratio.

Intramolecular diyl trapping. Little et al. 133 have reported a highly interesting approach (Scheme 25) towards the anti-cis linear triquinane framework of 17.1 and 17.5. The key-step is the intramolecular variant of the diyl trapping reaction, 134 forming two 5-membered rings in the process. The precursor diazenes (e.g. 25.1) are obtained via Diels-Alder reaction of a fulvene with azodicarboxylate esters. Expulsion of nitrogen yields the 1,3-diyl 25.2 which is trapped by the double bond; the step-wise fashion explains best the experimental observations. 135a The stereoselectivity can be rationalized by assuming a pseudochain conformation for the acyclic chain in 25.2 with an endo-methoxycarbonyl group permitting energy lowering secondary orbital interactions, which explains the different observed ratio. Indeed, starting from 25.1, for respectively $E = COOMe^{133a}$ and E = H, 133b the ratios of 25.4 and 25.5 are 9:1 and 5:1. With 25.6 asymmetric induction in the 1,3-diyl trapping reaction was studied. 135b

Both diastereoisomers give the same result; under reflux conditions the diastereoisomeric ratio 25.7: 25.8 is 11.8:1. Fragmentation of 25.6 upon irradiation has a dramatic effect; the ratio in favour of 25.7 is now 26:1. Starting from 25.9 a reversal of the above described regiochemical mode is observed, the major product being the bridged tricycle 25.12. The transition states leading to 25.10 and 25.11 suffer respectively from two and one H-methyl nonbonded interactions (Scheme 25).

Bicyclo[3.3.0] octanes from other polycarbocyclic systems. A short route to the hirsutane group, based on iterative three-carbon annulation, has been developed by Greene. 137 The method centres around chloro-ketene [2+2]cyclo addition and subsequent regioselective (directed by the chlorine atom) diazomethane ring expansion (26.1 \rightarrow 26.2 and 26.3 \rightarrow 26.4). Starting from 26.1 (R = COOMe) reaction with dichloroketene produces the bicyclic intermediate with the exo-carboxylic group as the major product (ratio 3:1). Recently Paquette and Annis 118b applied Greene's strategy, starting with regioselective cycloaddition to a silyl enol ether. The synthesis of 17.7 reported by Wenkert and Arrhenius¹³⁸ starts from 26.5, obtained from 2-methylcyclopentanone in 9 steps, via Robinson annulation, stereodirected cyclopropanation and functionalization of the 6-membered ring. The crucial step involves an α-oxycyclopropyl carbinol-to-cyclobutane rearrangement of 26.5 to 26.6. Cyclobutanone ring expansion using the Trost methodology finally gives then 26.8. Hudlicky et al. 139b constructed the isocomene skeleton by internal cyclopropanation of the exocyclic acrylate 26.9(1:1 E-Z isomers) and subsequent vinylcyclopropane rearrangement to 26.11. Previously a report of the same laboratory^{139a} described the synthesis of 17.1 via the same process; 26.12 is obtained by internal cyclopropanation of the corresponding diazo-ethyl ketone, its thermolysis provides the anti-cis linear triquinane 26.13 next to 10% of syn-cis isomer. Stothers et al. 140a described an approach to 17.1 in which the key-step is based on the rearrangement by homoenolisation of 26.16. Starting from dicyclopentadiene and via homoketonisation of 26.15, the intermediate is obtained as a 3:1 mixture of double bond isomers. Rearrangement of 26.16 proceeds smoothly to the cis-anti-cis skeleton 26.17 of hirsutene. The mechanism shown is assumed to occur via β -enolization; previously the same group had also given evidence of γ -enolization in related systems. ^{140b} The methane indene 26.18 (from the dimer of the acetal of cyclopentadienone) has been used to construct 26.19, as precursor for 17.4.141

Skeleton rearrangement of photocycloaddition products. The ready availability of 4-membered rings from enone-alkene photocycloadditions has been at the origin of several approaches. An efficient application of this strategy is found in Pirrung's synthesis 142 of 17.7. Irradiation of 27.1 provides 27.2 as the only isomer, with the correct configuration of three contiguous quaternary centres. Wittig reaction

under forcing conditions and Wagner-Meerwein rearrangement of 27.3 leads to 17.7. In the Smith-Jerris synthesis 143 of 17.6 the tricyclic intermediate 27.5 is obtained upon irradiation of 27.4 with ethyne or better with 1,2-dichloroethene (and subsequent reductive removal of chlorine); the cycloaddition is only moderately in favour of the desired anti-adduct (57:43). Cargill rearrangement of 27.5, via initial shift of the vinylic bond, followed by a second [1.2] alkyl shift produces 27.6. An interesting and versatile construction of the linear triquinanes involving a photo-thermal metathetic sequence has been described by Mehta et al. 144 Irradiation of 27.7 (the endo Diels-Alder adduct of cyclopentadiene and 2,5-dimethyl-p-benzoquinone), followed by thermolysis of the cyclobutane ring in 27.8 provides 27.9. Thermal isomerization, involving double bond shift to the fused position leads to an equilibrium with 27.10, a precursor for 17.1 and 17.4. Essentially the same sequence starting from 27.11 enables construction of 27.14 a precursor of 17.5.145 The key-step in the Tatsuta et al. synthesis 146 of 17.1 and 17.4 is the solvolytic rearrangement of tosylate 27.18 to epoxide 27.19. The approach starts with the photocycloaddition between 27.15 and 27.16. Pattenden's biogenetically patterned synthesis of the capnellene framework involves transannular cationic-olefin cyclization of 27.23, the C-11 epimer of the naturally occurring precapnelladiene. 147 The key-step is the intramolecular photocycloaddition of 27.20. Double methylation, base promoted hydrolysis and retro-aldol reaction yields 27.22 which is then selectively converted to 27.23.

Highly potential precursors for annulated 5-ring systems can be obtained via the intramolecular variant of the arene-olefin *meta* photocycloaddition¹⁴⁸ (Scheme 28). Wender's application provides presently the most efficient and versatile approach to triquinanes. ^{149,150} Irradiation of 28.1 gives a 1:1 ratio of the photochemically interconvertible adducts 28.2 and 28.3. ^{149a} A thermally induced homo 1,5-sigmatropic H-shift in 28.2 provides (\pm)-dehydroisocomene 28.4 (82%); the latter is also obtained (46%) from 28.3, via initial vinylcyclopropane isomerization to 28.2. Starting from bromotoluene, 17.7 is obtained in five steps. Similarly 28.5 can be converted to 28.6 as the major adduct. ¹⁵⁰ The alcohol from 28.6 (R = H) is transformed via dehydrative rearrangement to 28.7, while radical cleavage of 28.6 [R = CH(OEt)₂] gives 28.8. Both 28.7 and 28.8 are precursors for 17.4. The intermolecular *meta* addition ^{149b} of 28.9 with vinylacetate gives 28.10 which is transformed into 28.11, a precursor for 17.6. Interestingly, upon methylation of 28.11, three methyl groups are introduced, this is made possible by

Scheme 27.

Scheme 28.

Scheme 29.

the fact that the enolate of 28.11 and of already methylated derivatives, exhibit the dynamic behaviour of semibullvalenes. Finally nucleophilic cyclopropane ring opening followed by enolate trapping produces 28.13.

3. The bicyclo[4.3.0] nonane or hydrindane group

There are only few sesquiterpenes based on this structure, even when tricyclic compounds having an additional cyclopropane or cyclobutane ring are included. Therefore we will group the different approaches towards a specific skeleton. Obviously some of the 5- and 6-membered annulating methods described in the foregoing sections can be applied. Oplopanone 29.1 is a trans-fused hydrindane with a β -oriented substituent at C-3; both stereochemical features represent the most stable configuration. The Caine-Tuller synthesis¹⁵¹ centres around the photochemical rearrangement⁸¹ of crossconjugated dienone 29.3, itself produced by Robinson annulation followed by oxidation. Transformation of 29.4 leads to the thermodynamically stable trans-fused hydrindanone 29.5. The Taber-Korsmeyer synthesis¹⁵² is based on the internal alkylation of the aldehyde 29.9 affording the most stable isomer 29.10. The sequence starts with reductive alkylation of 29.6 and subsequent 1,4-addition on 29.7. Alternatively, Köster and Wolf¹⁵³ apply the directed alkylation on 29.11 for constructing 29.12, which is then cyclized, stereoselectively, to 29.13. Hydrolysis under equilibration conditions affords trans-fused 29.14 as the major isomer (ratio 3:2).

The remarkable total synthesis of picrotoxinin 30.1 reported by Corey and Pearce¹⁵⁴ features a number of transformations from which only those directly involved in the construction of the skeleton

Scheme 31.

are selected. Alkylation of the dimethylhydrazone of (-)-carvone and aldol cyclization produces 30.3. Elaboration of 30.5 proceeds via 30.4 and subsequent bromoether formation, introduction of a protected aldehyde function and keto-enolate oxidation (O_2) . Dithiolane cleavage and aldol cyclization establishes the hydrindane nucleus in 30.6. It is worth noting that oxidative double-lactonization of 30.7 could only be affected with lead tetraacetate in acetonitrile. Inubushi et al. 155 constructed the hydrindane nucleus of coriamyrtin (30.2) upon 1,4-addition on acrylate 30.10 followed by cyclization via enolate trapping by the carbonyl function. The first step is not selective as the C-4,C-5-diastereoisomer of 30.11 is formed in 36% yield. The intermediacy of 30.10 is necessary because the same reaction sequence on butenolide 30.9 produces the incorrect stereochemistry.

In recent syntheses of marasmic acid (31.1) the framework is constructed via a Diels-Alder reaction. In the Greenlee-Woodward¹⁵⁶ approach, the smooth reaction between 31.2 and 31.3 suggests an internal process, subsequent to ester formation; both adducts 31.4 and 31.5 are suitable for further transformation. The Boeckman-Ko¹⁵⁷ synthesis centres around cyclization of 31.6, both the cis (endo) and the trans (exo) hydrindenes 31.7 and 31.8 are produced. Traces of acid increase the proportion of 31.8; clearly secondary orbital interactions are energetically insufficient to overcome unfavourable nonbonded interactions. The preferred formation of trans-hydrindene 31.8 is in accord with previous observations.

The tricyclic skeleton of the panasinsenes 32.1 (exo or endo double bond) has been constructed by intramolecular [2+2] photocycloaddition reactions. McMurry and Choy¹⁵⁸ apply the intramolecular version of the Salomon process on 32.2 involving cuprous triflate catalyzed photochemical addition of an olefin to an allylic alcohol. Johnson and Meanwell¹⁵⁹ showed that, although slow, the intramolecular process starting from enone 32.4 produces 32.3. It is worth noting that McMurry¹⁵⁸ has observed that the intermolecular variant on enone 32.5 with isobutylene did not afford 32.3.

In a recent illudol (33.1) synthesis, Semmelhack et al.¹⁶⁰ constructed the skeleton 33.4 by Diels-Alder reaction between 33.2 and 33.3; because of the thermal instability of the dienophile, minimum temperature conditions are required.

Scheme 34.

The formation of some hydrindanes which are intermediates in the synthesis of other sesquiterpene skeletons is given in Scheme 34. The eremophilane precursor 16.1 has been obtained from 34.4. Other novel applications of the Nazarov reaction have already been described in Scheme 22; Hiyama et al. 83b.c reported an efficient alternative for the divinylketone intermediate starting from 34.1. Cyclization of 34.2 is completely regio- and stereoselective. This suggests the cation 34.3 as the thermodynamically favourable intermediate for electrocyclic conrotatory ring closure. The hydrindenone 34.6, an intermediate for the synthesis of (\pm) -zizaene (Section III.2) has been obtained upon thermal rearrangement of the β -cyclopropyl- α , β -unsaturated ketone 34.5. 161 Ring expansion of cyclobutanone 34.8 affords the khusimone precursor 34.9. 162 Diketone 34.7 is the hydrolyzed, minor product (ratio 5:8) formed during photocycloaddition of the corresponding cyclohexenone and 1,1-diethoxy-ethene.

4. The bicyclo[5.3.0]decane or perhydroazulene group

Despite their early detection, marked progress in the total synthesis of perhydroazulenic sesquiterpenes has only been made during the last 10 years. This is largely due to stereochemical problems associated with the conformationally labile system. The two largest subgroups are based on the guaiane (e.g. 35.1 and 35.2) and on the pseudoguaiane (e.g. 35.3 and 35.4) framework, while some compounds have a substitution pattern as in 35.5 and 35.6. The isopropyl group of a guaiane can also be part of a cyclopropane ring closed at C-6. This section will be devoted mainly to the two large subgroups and more especially to the pseudoguaianolides (e.g. 35.3 and 35.4) for which synthetic efforts were most successful. This can be explained by the fact that the angular methyl group allows better stereocontrol. The pseudoguaianolides are trans-fused, possess a β C-7 configuration and the lactone ring cis- or trans-fused at C-6 or C-8; they are subdivided according to the orientation of the C-14 methyl group (35.3 and 35.4). As has first been shown by Marshall¹⁶³ and as is illustrated throughout this section, catalytic hydrogenation of a double bond at respectively C-10 and C-7 leads in general predominantly to the β -configuration. On the other hand intermediates allowing equilibration at C-10 provide an entry into the \alpha series (e.g. 35.4). Among the first approaches towards perhydroazulenes rank skeleton rearrangements of decalin precursors; new applications will be described in Scheme 42. We will however review first the recent, most frequently employed strategy in which the 7-membered ring is constructed on the cyclopentane ring.

Annulation of the cycloheptane ring. Scheme 36 groups three approaches in which the 7-membered ring is closed upon aldolization. Central in Grieco's 164,165 large contribution to the

Scheme 35.

pseudoguaianolides are the cyclopentanoids 36.2 and 36.6. The intermediate 36.2 (for the C-10 β -series) is obtained via 36.1 from norbornadiene in 25% overall yield. 164 Functional group transformation and chain extention provides 36.3 which is cyclized to 36.4. Alternatively the a C-10 subclass is accessible via 36.6 (from 36.5). 165 Inversion at C-10 involves the intermediacy of 36.7; complete isomerization of the 14-methyl group occurs because of the severe 1,3-diaxial methyl-methyl interaction in the initially produced lactone. Transformation to 36.9 and aldol cyclization provides 36.10. Both 36.4 and 36.10 are valuable intermediates. The Ziegler-Fang¹⁶⁶ approach involves 1,4-addition on 36.11 of the lithium anion of 36.12 and subsequent alkylation for attaching the elements of the 7-membered ring. Ozonolysis produces the keto-aldehyde, which upon cyclization leads to the more stable a C-10 configuration (36.14). The stereoselective reduction at C-9 is essential because the C-7-substituent is subsequently introduced on 36.15 via Claisen rearrangement. Schultz and Motyka¹⁶⁷ developed the annulation reagent 36.16 for attaching the C-atoms of the cycloheptane and lactone ring on 2-methyl-1,3-cyclopentanedione. The enole form of 36.17 inhibits aldol cyclization; therefore the double bond was first introduced and the reaction to 36.18 was carried out on the cyclopentenedione intermediate. Hydrogenation of the 2,3-bond, reduction of both keto functions and dehydration produces 36.19. Selective hydrogenation leads to the β C-10 series, subsequently the furan ring in 36.20 can be transformed to a β -cis fused γ -lactone.

Semmelhack's 168 strategy involves intramolecular coupling of an allylic metal species obtained via the sulfonium salt of 37.2, with an aldehyde function and concomitant lactonization. Optimum results were obtained with Ni(0); 37.3 is formed next to the 7,8(α)-diastereoisomer (15%). The substrate 37.2 was constructed via 37.1. Unfortunately, selective reduction of the 10,14-double bond in 37.3 was not possible.

Scheme 37.

Scheme 38.

The approach to guaianes reported by Andersen et al. 169 centres around the cationic—olefin cyclization of 38.2 and 38.4 which are obtained from photocitral 38.1. Cyclization of 38.2 provides the 1:2 mixture of double bond isomers 38.3 while 38.4 leads to three major products 38.5; the exo isomer is stereohomogeneous (α C-7 and C-8). Lansbury et al. 170 developed a 3-step pseudoguaiane skeleton formation via 38.6, obtained upon propargylation of 2-methyl-1,3-cyclopentanedione 18.8. Cyclization of 38.7 produces a 7-membered ring; competitive 6-membered ring formation is disfavoured because of the intermediacy of a primary vinyl cation. The resulting diketone is selectively transformed into 38.8, allowing the formation of a β C-4 substituent which enhances the stereoselectivity (>90%) of the hydrogenation step to 38.10. Entry into the α C-10 isomer 38.13 is achieved via 38.11; DBN-mediated equilibration gives 38.12 next to the β , γ -enone in a 3:1 ratio. Attempted epimerization of the cycloheptenone, lacking the phenylthio group, led completely to the β , γ -enone.

The thermal rearrangement of divinylcyclopropanes for cycloheptane annulation has been studied independently by Piers, 171 Marino 172 and Wender 173 in 1976. Wender et al. 174 have extended the method for pseudoguaianolide total synthesis. It was observed that for C-14 methylated cyclopropanes only the cis-isomer 39.4 leads to 39.5. Isomer 39.3, the major product from 39.1 (ratio 4: 1), gave at 140° a homo[1,5] sigmatropic shift. This problem could be circumvented upon photoisomerization of 39.3. Irradiation provides a mixture, enriched in 39.4, which upon selective pyrolysis gives 39.5 and unreacted 39.3. Oxidation of the acetal of 39.5 provides predominantly 39.6, an intermediate for β C-10 pseudoguaianolides.

Photocycloaddition between two cyclopentene rings followed by cyclobutane ring cleavage provides an efficient entry into fused 5,7-ring systems (Scheme 40). Vandewalle et al. ¹⁷⁵ constructed the pseudoguaianolide intermediate 40.4 via cycloaddition between 36.11 and 40.1; after reduction of the keto function in adduct 40.2, diol cleavage affords the cis-fused skeleton. Equilibration of the ether 40.3 provides predominantly the trans-fused isomer 40.4; the ratio is probably influenced by the destabilizing effect of the endo oriented group in 40.3. After selective Wittig reaction, entry into both C- 10α and β series is possible. Wilkinson catalyst produces exclusively 40.6; ^{175c} although less efficiently, Pt-catalysts give comparable results. Surprisingly, reversal of the stereochemical outcome is observed when the hydrogenation is conducted on the corresponding alcohol of 40.5 with Pd-C as catalyst; the α,β ratio is $8:2.^{176a}$ Although the reason is unknown, seemingly the free α C-4 hydroxyl group is a

Scheme 39.

determining factor. It is worth mentioning that, hydrogenation on Pt–C of the enol ether 40.8 leads, with cleavage of the THP ether, also to a C-10 epimeric mixture in favour of the α -isomer (7:3), while only the β -configuration at C-7 is formed. Analogously, initial photoaddition of 40.1 with cyclopentenone provides, via 40.9, a 3 step entry into the guaiane framework 40.10. The monoketal 40.11 is the key-intermediate which allowed the first direct total synthesis of guaianolides (e.g. 35.4). The constructed the pseudoguaiane framework upon photocycloaddition with the unsymmetrical olefin 40.13. The expected adduct is formed predominantly and affords enone 40.14 upon subsequent acid treatment. After introduction of the 4-methyl group removal of the keto function and reduction of both esters, fragmentation is effected upon preparing the primary tosylate. The same ring expansion has been applied by Oppolzer and Wylie in their β -bulnesene synthesis. The intramolecular photoaddition in 40.17 produces 40.18 as an epimeric mixture (ratio 3:3:1). Fragmentation of 40.19 via the presumed mesylate yields the C-4 epimers 40.20.

Scheme 40.

Annulation of the cyclopentane ring. The unique approach based on this strategy has been reported by Heathcock et al. 180 Using Yamamoto's reagent the 3,4-trans-configuration in precursor 41.2 is obtained predominantly (ratio 5:1). Acid-catalyzed aldolization only produces the cis-fused isomer 41.3 as the kinetic product. The C-4 epimeric endo alcohol is also formed under equilibrating conditions; the trans-fused products are not observed, although they are usually more stable than the cis isomers. This suggests an energetically unfavourable transition state for the formation of transperhydroazulenes by intramolecular aldolization. In this context, it is of interest to mention the base-induced isomerization of 41.4 and 41.6¹⁸¹ which afford predominantly 41.5 and 41.7, respectively, under kinetic conditions in the presence of chelating lithium cations. In hydroxylic medium 41.5 is the preferred kinetic product, while under equilibration conditions 41.5 and 41.6 predominate.

Scheme 41.

Bicyclo [5.3.0] decanes from other polycarbocyclic systems. Earlier approaches to perhydroazulenes relied heavily on the rearrangement of decalin precursors. 182 Barton's 81 photochemical transformation of cross-conjugated dienones found use in relay syntheses. Other processes, involving solvolytic [1.2] shifts, have been developed by Mazur¹⁸³ (pinacol rearrangement) and Heathcock¹⁸⁴ (Wagner-Meerwein rearrangement). Heathcock et al. 185 have recently reported that, in contrast to 42.1, solvolysis of angularly dimethylated precursors as 42.2 fails to produce a viable route to the pseudoguaiane skeleton. Alternatively, the pinacol rearrangement of 42.3 provides 42.4 (R = H) together with the cis isomer in a 4:1 ratio, reflecting the equilibrium. Transformation of 42.4 (R = Ac)into 42.5 (see also 43.11) and subsequent chemical reduction or catalytic hydrogenation allows an entry into both C-10 α and β pseudoguaianolides 42.6 and 42.7. In an approach to guaianolides, Posner et al. 186 applied the anionic pinacol rearrangement on a mixture of isomeric 42.9; concomitant β elimination provides 42.10. The substrates 42.9 were obtained from the known 42.8. Transformation of decalins to perhydroazulenes via a 10-membered ring has also been effected. In an application of his boronate fragmentation reaction, ^{187a} Marshall ^{187b} opened 42.11 to 42.12, the p-nitrobenzoate of which undergoes solvolytic cyclization to 42.13. The first total synthesis of a naturally occurring pseudoguaianolide has been described by Kretchmer and Thompson.¹⁸⁸ Construction of the intermediate 42.16 is based on the ozonolysis of 42.15, aldol ring closure of the resulting triketone and subsequent methylation. The process is non-stereoselective and affords also the α C-7 isomer (21%). In a further stage hydrogenation on Pd–C leads to the β configuration at C-10.

Three approaches involving ring expansion of a hydrindane precursor are shown in Scheme 43. Marshall-Ellison¹⁸⁹ constructed the key-intermediate 43.3 starting with Robinson annulation on 18.18; it is noteworthy that the Wharton method for the formation of 43.2 from 43.1 failed and that a longer alternative had to be used. Solvolysis of 43.3 produces directly the lactone 43.4 with incorrect α C-7 configuration. Inversion is realized via 43.5, which upon hydrogenation (Pd-C) provides the desired C-7,C-10 β isomer. Schlessinger et al. 190 have reported an efficient entry into pseudoguaianolides starting from 43.6. The Barton¹⁹¹ variant of the Beckman rearrangement leads to 43.7; reaction of the phosphonate anion on the carbonyl of this lactam is followed by rearrangement via ring opening and ring closure to the N—Me imine analogue of 43.8. The desired trans-fused geometry of 43.9 is determined during this process. Base-induced retro aldol ring opening and intramolecular Wadsworth-Emmons condensation provides then 43.9. Complete stereoselective transformation to 43.10 is effected as shown; alternative addition of Me₂CuLi complex led to a 4:1 isomeric mixture. The β C-10 series can also be obtained upon trapping of the intermediate enolate of **43.10** as a TMS ether and oxidative reintroduction of the double bond. 1906 Subsequent catalytic hydrogenation of 43.11, as shown for 42.5, affords the β C-10 isomer. An alternative synthesis of 43.10 has been reported by Kim et al. 192 Hydrogenation of the unstable enone 43.13 produces an epimeric mixture which upon base-

Scheme 43.

Scheme 44.

equilibration gives the most stable equatorial isomer 43.14. Application of Nozaki's β -oxido-carbenoid ring expansion (see Scheme 16) leads via 43.15 to 43.10.

The vellerane skeleton has been constructed by Froborg and Magnusson¹⁹³ from the enamine 44.4 which has been obtained from 44.1 (see also Scheme 18). Thermal cycloaddition of 44.4 with acetylenic ester 44.5 and subsequent cyclobutene ring opening produces 44.6, which has been transformed into 35.5. A recent approach to daucene 35.6^{194b} is based on the metathetical thermolysis of photoadduct 14.10. The initially formed cyclodecadienones, such as 44.7, undergo a spontaneous transannular reaction under the condition of their formation.^{194a} The reaction involves an oxygen to oxygen migration of a silyl group leading to 44.8 as one of two major isomers. Both produce the diketone 44.9 upon acid treatment.

5. The bicyclo[5.4.0]undecane group

Some representatives of this small group of sesquiterpenes are shown in Scheme 45. The cis-fused framework of α -himachalene 45.1 has been formed upon intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction of 45.7 and 45.8. Wenkert and Naemura¹⁹⁵ constructed the triene 45.7 in a multistep sequence. A more convergent synthesis of 45.8 has been presented by Oppolzer and Snowden^{196a} and involves formation of the 5,6-bond by their method for attaching a functionalized 5-carbon chain^{196b} (45.14 + 45.15 \rightarrow 45.8). The Liu-Browne¹⁹⁷ approach centres around diazoacetate ring expansion of 45.12 which produces, 45.13 after decarboxylation. Acid-catalyzed equilibration of 45.13 leads to a mixture of 4

isomers (cis-trans and 1,2-2,3 double bond) in which 45.9 is a minor component. The ester 45.11, precursor for 45.12, is formed by a fairly regioselective, SnCl₄-mediated Diels-Alder reaction. Thermal rearrangement of divinylcyclopropanes¹⁷¹⁻¹⁷³ (see also Scheme 39) has been applied by Piers and Ruediger¹⁹⁸ for the synthesis of 45.2. Heating 45.18 and subsequent methylation produces 45.19. Danishefsky et al.^{199b} developed a method for the construction of cycloalkenes based on the Claisen rearrangement of lactonic silyl enolates, as a variant of Ireland's²⁰⁰ rearrangement. In the synthesis of 45.3, 199a thermolysis of 45.23 leads stereospecifically to 45.24, through a boatlike transition state. Subsequently the carboxyl function in 45.24 is replaced, with retention of configration, by a hydroxyl group. The precursor 45.22 was obtained in a multi-step sequence from cyclocitral 45.20. Matsumoto and Usui²⁰¹ synthesized 45.4 upon applying a Friedel-Craft type cyclization of 45.25 (see also Scheme 10). Perforenone (45.5) has been obtained by Gonzalez et al.;²⁰² Robinson annulation of 45.28 produces in 29% yield a 2:1 mixture of isomers with 45.5 as the major compound. The formation of cycloheptenone 45.28 involving a Claisen rearrangement is of interest.

Scheme 45.

II. SPIROCYCLIC SYSTEMS

1. The [5.4]decane and [5.5]undecane group

Most spirocyclic sesquiterpenes fall within three classes: the spirovetivanes (46.1) the acoranes (46.2) and the chamigrenes (46.3) (Scheme 46).^{203a} Axisonitrile (46.4) and spirolaurenone (46.5) are unusual sesquiterpenes of marine origin. Since the pioneering work of Marshall^{203b} spirocompounds have attracted considerable synthetic activity.²⁰⁴ We will further essentially focus on the construction of the spiro[4.5]decane and spiro[5.5]undecane nuclei. Next to the problem of constructing the quaternary centre,²⁰⁵ one has also to cope with the relative stereochemistry of substituents on the same ring (cf acoranes 46.2). The major stereochemical problem, however, is establishing the correct sense of chirality of the spirocarbon relative to the centres present in one or both rings. Obviously, when dealing

Scheme 46.

with pseudosymmetric 6-membered rings, the problem may present itself as a regiochemical one. Several strategies have been used for the construction of the spirosystem. We will distinguish four conceptually different approaches. (1) The strategy involves the synthesis of a *gem*-disubstituted monocycle and subsequent construction of the second ring. (2) The *gem*-disubstituted monocycle is obtained via spiroannulation followed by fragmentation. (3) The desired spirosystem is directly constructed via bond formation at the spirocentre. (4) A tricyclic system is synthesized first and subsequent specific bond breaking releases the desired spirosystem.

Indirect construction of the spirosystem. The problem resides here mainly in the creation of an adequate quaternary centre on one ring.²⁰⁵ The eventual obtention of the full spirosystem is then realized via classical ring closure reactions which are summarized in Scheme 47: aldolization $(47.1,^{206-208}, 47.2,^{209}, 47.3,^{210})$, Claisen condensation $(47.4,^{211})$, acyloin condensation $(47.7,^{212})$ and π -cation cyclizations $(47.8,^{213}, 47.9,^{214}, 47.10,^{215}, 47.13,^{216})$. The stereospecific synthesis of (-)- α -acoradiene was recently reported by Solas and Wolinsky²¹¹ starting from puleganolide (47.5); the required stereochemistry at the three adjacent centres on the 5-membered ring is obtained via alkylation to 47.6, followed by base-induced elimination of the lactone. Cyclopentenone annulation via TiCl₄-mediated intramolecular acylation of vinylsilane 47.10 has been described by Burke et al.,²¹⁵ although not directly in relation to spiroterpene synthesis. Masamune's synthesis of spirovetivanes centres about the acid fragmentation of suitable bicyclo[2.2.2]octenes (47.11) to cyclohexenones (47.12) which further undergo ring closure via π -cyclization.²¹⁶ While formic acid treatment gives the cyclohexenone derivatives 47.12 in high yield, use of oxalic acid in aqueous acetone directly leads to the spirosystem; it is interesting to note that when R is methyl the α -configuration at the hydroxy-isopropyl group in 47.13 is obtained stereoselectively with the dehydration product.^{216a}

Spiroannulation-fragmentation sequence ("secoalkylation"). A number of interesting approaches to the spiro[4.5] decane nucleus involve prior formation of a spirocompound which is subsequently fragmented giving suitable side chains for final aldol ring closure to the requisite spirosystem (Scheme 48). Wenkert et al. 217 applied a β -oxycyclopropyl ketone formation—acid fragmentation sequence to a formal synthesis of β -vetivone. Treatment of the conjugated dienyl ether 48.1 with diazoacetone under copper-catalyzed thermal decomposition gives a 3:1 mixture of 48.2 and 48.3; subsequent acid treatment gives with rearranged products originating from 48.2, the stereohomogeneous diketone 48.4 (9% from 48.1). Trost et al. have applied their cyclobutanone spiroannulation method 218 for the

Scheme 47.

synthesis of spirovetivanes²¹⁹ and acorenone B.²²⁰ Reaction of 1-lithiocyclopropylphenylsulfide with enone 48.5 gives 48.6, and further cyclobutanone 48.7 upon stereospecific acid rearrangement.²¹⁹ Further transformation to 48.10 involved 5 steps: after activation of the α -cyclobutanonemethylene group to 48.8 (Bredereck's reagent) and solvolysis in the presence of trimethylenedithiotosylate, 48.9 is obtained (50%), which is further cleaved to the corresponding dithiane acid. Cyclopentanone 48.11 reacts as an isomeric mixture with the ylide derived from cyclopropyldiphenylsulfonium fluoroborate (reversible ylide generation conditions) to a stereohomogeneous oxaspiropentane 48.12. Again a stereospecific rearrangement (lithium fluoroborate) yields cyclobutanone 48.13.²²⁰ Note that the stereochemical outcome of both approaches is complementary. Eight steps are further required for obtaining 48.16: acid fragmentation of α -formylcyclobutanone 48.14 leads to an acid-aldehyde which cyclizes directly to 48.15.

In an extension of the use of [2+2] photochemical cycloadditions of cyclic β -alkoxyenones for the preparation of cyclohexenones, Baldwin has reported the synthesis of (-)-acorenone. Irradiation of alkene 48.18, obtained in optically active form from (+)-limonene via 48.17 (11 steps, 17% overall), with enone 15.1 affords photoadduct 48.19, the result of exclusive head-to-tail addition. A further 6-step sequence is required for the transformation to 48.21, involving base fragmentation of 48.20, obtained upon treatment of the corresponding oxime of 48.19 with thionyl chloride.

Direct construction of the spirosystem. The direct formation of carbocyclic spirocompounds via intramolecular alkylation has been reviewed in 1974. 204a The stereoselective spiroannulation of 49.1 to 49.2 has been described by Stork et al. 223 and is based on the previous finding that enol ethers of 1,3-cyclohexanediones can efficiently be alkylated via their kinetic enolates. 224 Winstein and Baird's 225 Ar_{1,5}-cyclization, which already found application in the spirosesquiterpene area, 226,227 was used by Torii et al. for the conversion of 49.3 to 49.4. 228 γ -Alkylation of enone 49.5 provides the spirocyclic system 49.6. 229 Pinder et al. succeeded to effect internal Michael addition of 49.7 to 49.8. 230 Yamada's 231 syntheses of spirovetivanes rest on the acid-catalyzed aldol reaction of 49.9 to lactone 49.10. This lactone is the thermodynamically preferred product. Short reaction times allow for the isolation of epimer 49.11. The latter is the product which one would expect from reaction opposite to the carboxyl group. It is interesting to note that when 49.12 is hydrolyzed under more vigorous conditions, the saturated tricyclic aldol 49.14 is formed via internal Michael addition to the conjugated enone aldol cyclization of intermediate 49.13.

Scheme 49.

Different cation—olefin cyclizations have been used for the formation of spirocarbocyclic systems (Scheme 50). McCurry et al.²³² obtained cyclohexenone 50.2 by acid treatment of 50.1; it was thereby anticipated that the 1-alkoxybutadiene, intermediate in the acetal hydrolysis, would be sufficiently nucleophilic at the 4-position to parallel Winstein's $Ar_{1,5}$ -cyclization and to disfavour decalin formation. Predictably, alkylation of the allylic cation occurs trans to the methyl group (β -vetivone = epi-50.2). Since Kitahara's²³³ synthesis of α -chamigrene (50.3 \rightarrow 50.4) other classical π -cyclizations have been used, such as the transformations of 50.5 into 50.6,²³⁴ and 50.7 into 50.8.²³⁵ The synthesis of 10-bromo- α -chamigrene has been reported by Wolinsky and Faulkner.²³⁶ Bromonium ion induced cyclization²³⁷ of geranylacetone leads to 50.9, which is further transformed to allylic alcohol 50.10. Acid treatment of the latter gives a mixture containing 10-bromo- α -chamigrene (50.11). The same compound has been obtained later along similar lines.²³⁸

An interesting β -vetivone synthesis has been reported by Büchi et al., involving Me₂CuLi addition to the fulvene 51.1, followed by reaction of the lithium cyclopentadienide with the carbonyl group to

Scheme 50.

Scheme 51.

yield the single alcohol 51.2.²³⁹ Surprisingly, diimide reduction of the corresponding acetate gives a single dihydro compound 51.3 (57% yield). At the same time Näf et al.²⁴⁰ described the stereoselective formation of aldol product 51.5 arising from conjugate addition to the enedione 51.4. Dauben and Hart²⁴¹ have extended Fuchs method²⁴² for the synthesis of cyclopentene carboxylates using carbethoxycyclopropyltriphenylphosphonium tetrafluoroborate to the synthesis of several spirovetivanes. Treatment of a HMPT solution of the sodium enolate of formylketone 51.6 gives a single spiroderivative 51.7. It is of interest here to mention subsequent work of de Groot and Jansen²⁴³ who obtained good yields of Robinson annulated 51.9 (n = 2) via addition of methylvinylketone to the sodium enolate of 51.8 and ring closure with pyrrolidine–acetic acid in methanol (R = alkyl). The 5-membered enone 51.9 (n = 1) was obtained from 51.8 (R = H) and iodoacetone followed by cyclization (27%).

A novel spiroannelating method has been described by Ficini et al.²⁴⁴ The ynamine acylation of the enol lactone 51.10 gives stereoselectively and in good yield the spirocompound 51.11. A lesser degree of stereoselectivity ($\sim 4:1$) is obtained with less sterically demanding substituents (Me versus *i*-Pr). The intermediacy of 51.13 in the reaction has been suggested. Enamine derivative 51.11 is further transformed into 51.12 via double Wittig reaction and acid hydrolysis.

The potential use of arene-metal complexes in the synthesis of spiro[4.5] decenones has recently been described by Semmelhack et al., 245a and applied to the synthesis of acorenone and acorenone B. 245b The process is based on the observation that carbon nucleophiles attack π -anisolechromium tricarbonyl at the meta position, 246 and that the resulting η^5 -cyclohexadienyl complexes of chromium can subsequently be protonated and freed from chromium to give 1-substituted cyclohexa-1,3-dienes.

For the construction of the acorane spirosystem this concept has been used at two different stages (Scheme 52). Reaction of o-methylanisole and chromium hexacarbonyl in dioxane gives 52.1 in 95%

Scheme 52.

yield. Subsequent reaction with 52.2 followed by oxidation and cyanohydrin acetal removal yields 52.3. The elaboration of the side chain in 52.4 involved "ionic hydrogenation" of the tertiary alcohol obtained upon allylmagnesium bromide reaction on 52.3. Via reaction of anisole 52.4 with chromium hexacarbonyl the two diastereoisomers 52.5a and 52.5b are obtained in 84% yield (ratio 3:2). Both isomers were separated and treated with LDA at -78° ; after hydrolytic work-up there was obtained a diastereoisomeric mixture (8:1) of 52.6 from 52.5a and a single spiroenone 52.7. In both cases does the alkylation proceed via exo-addition to the coordinated arene.

Since Yoshikoshi's ²⁴⁸ report on the use of the Diels-Alder reaction to form the spirocentre of chamigrenes (cf 53.1 to 53.2), this reaction has found little application in the synthesis of spirocyclic sesquiterpenes. ^{204c} In work related to the synthesis of acoranes Marx and Norman ²⁴⁹ reported a 7:3 isomeric ratio of 53.4 and 53.5, respectively, for the SnCl₄-catalyzed Diels-Alder reaction of enone 53.3, obtained in optically pure form from (+)-pulegone. The thermal cycloaddition reaction shows less stereoselectivity and also gives rise to the formation of substantial amounts of regioisomers (\sim 30%).

The application of the intramolecular ene cyclization of cyclic ketones which contain a 1-butenyl residue²⁵⁰ constituted the first synthetic approach to the acorane sesquiterpenes (53.6 to 53.7).^{251,204b} The stereoselective formation of spirocompounds via kinetically controlled intramolecular enereaction²⁵² has been used by Oppolzer et al.²⁵³ for the synthesis of acoranes. The thermal cyclization of 53.8 proceeds exclusively via endo transition state and gives a 1.7:1 ratio of spirocyclohexenes 53.9 and 53.10, respectively; with regard to the cis-relationship between the methyl group and the olefinic bond 100% stereoselectivity is obtained. Further synthesis to 53.12 also involved an interesting pinacol-type hydrogen shift of the cation obtained upon acid treatment of diol 53.11. A total synthesis of β -chamigrene, involving Claisen rearrangement of the vinyl substituted cycloheptapyran 53.13 to 53.14, followed by ring contraction to 53.15, has also been reported.²⁵⁴

Vinylcyclopropane—cyclopentene rearrangement has been applied by Piers et al.²⁵⁵ to the synthesis of spirovetivanes. They discovered that, whereas the vinylcyclopropyl ketones 54.3 afforded poor yields of the desired spiroketones 54.4 upon thermolysis, a better result is obtained when the ketone is first transformed to the corresponding TMS enolether (cf 54.5 to 54.6). The cyclopropyl derivatives 54.3 are obtained from the vinyl iodides 54.2 and lithium phenylthiocyclopropyl cuprate. Thermolysis of methyl-substituted 54.6 gives a diastereoisomeric mixture in favour of 54.7 (2.5:1).^{255b} Paquette's²⁵⁶ recent synthesis of α -vetispirene centres around a similar rearrangement involving, however, a substituted cyclopropyl group. The trimethylsilyl derivative 54.9, obtained from enone 54.8 via titanium reductive coupling,²⁵⁷ is thermolyzed to give a 4:1 mixture of spirodienes in favour of 54.10,

Scheme 53.

implying preferential recombination of biradical 54.11 along the less hindered face of the 6-membered ring. The alkyl-substituted cyclopropyl derivative 54.12 was obtained according to Sakurai's method;²⁵⁸ here a regioselective alkylation to 54.12, without methylenecyclopropane formation, is observed. A 5:1 ratio is obtained in favour of 54.13 upon pyrolysis of diene 54.12.

Generation of the spirocyclic system via specific bond cleavage in tricyclic systems. The study of the acid-catalyzed cleavage²⁵⁹ of cyclopropyl ketones related to lumisantonin^{260–262} lies at the basis of the first recorded spirosesquiterpene synthesis.^{263a} Several syntheses have since then appeared based upon the photochemical isomerization of cyclohexadienones (55.1, 55.4, 55.7, 55.11) to cyclopropyl ketones. Cleavage of the 3-membered ring is effected either by light-induced acid catalysis (55.2 to 55.3),^{263b} by normal acid cleavage (55.5 to 55.6)²⁶⁴ or by dissolved metal reduction (55.9 to 55.10).²⁶⁵ Caine's²⁶⁶ synthesis of α -vetisperene involves the direct photochemical rearrangement of 55.11 to spirocompound

Scheme 55.

55.12 upon photolysis in acetic acid. Note that the reduction of the conjugated cyclopropyl derivative 55.9 with lithium in ethylamine proceeds with inversion of the configuration at the methyl, in line with the result obtained for the reduction of similar conjugated cyclopropyl ketones.²⁶⁷ Spirocompound 55.10 is a precursor for axisonitrile (46.4).

Scheme 56.

An alternative approach to the construction of cyclopropyl cycloalkanones involves the use of the intramolecular reaction of diazoketones to olefins.²⁶⁸ This approach was originally applied by Deslongchamps et al.²⁶⁹ for the synthesis of epihinesol. Copper-catalyzed cyclopropane formation from 56.1 gives a 9:1 ratio in favour of 56.2. 269,270 Acid-catalyzed retro-aldolization furnishes spirocyclohexenone 56.3 in 90% yield. Cyclopropane bond cleavage was also effected on 56.4 and 56.6, obtained via transformation of ketone 56.2. Treatment of 56.6 under mild acid conditions gave a mixture of unconjugated esters 56.7. A similar strategy was used by White et al.²⁷¹ for the synthesis of (-)-acorenone B. Olefin 56.8, available in optically active form from (+)-limonene, in refluxing benzene containing copper powder gave ketone 56.9, only diastereoisomeric at the methyl group. Subsequent exposure to hydrochloric acid in chloroform gave directly olefin 56.10. In the course of the synthesis of α-chamigrene the use of a soluble complexed form of copper(II), i.e. bis(N-n-propylsalicylidenaminato) copper(II), was found necessary to effect thermal decomposition of 56.11 to 56.12. The direct construction of a spirodienone system from a phenol precursor has been reported by Iwata et al. (56.14 to 56.15, 56.16 to 56.17).²⁷² Enone 56.18 is further obtained as a result of a stereo- and regioselective dissolved metal reduction implying intramolecular protonation via the hydroxyl group on the 5membered ring.

 α -Acoradiene has recently been synthesized by Oppolzer et al.²⁷³ following an intramolecular photoaddition-reductive fragmentation sequence (Scheme 57). Irradiation of enone 57.1 yields a

mixture of 57.2 and 57.3, which on reductive cleavage furnishes spiroketones 57.6 in 59% yield (ratio 10:3). The direct formation of ring opened product 57.6 had been noted previously by Hoye et al.²⁷⁴ upon irradiation of 57.4 to 57.5, and should arise from H-transfer in radical 57.7. It is interesting to note that the possible formation of spirocompound 57.6 via retroene reaction of 57.5 (cis-1-acyl-2-alkylcyclobutane derivative) has been investigated without success.²⁷⁴ On the other hand, Fetizon et al.²⁷⁵ reported the Norrish type II fragmentation of 57.5 to 57.6 in 55% yield.

Two rearrangements characterize the synthesis of (+)-hinesol by Magnus et al.²⁷⁶ The acid-catalyzed rearrangement of 57.8, available from (+)-nopinone, gives 57.9; upon treatment of keto tosylate 57.10 with sodium hydride in DMSO β -keto sulfone 57.12 is formed via fragmentation of the intermediate alkoxide 57.11.

III. BRIDGED SYSTEMS

1. The bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane and bicyclo[3.1.1]heptane groups

A number of sesquiterpenes possess a bicyclo[2.2.1]heptane (58.1–58.4) or related tricyclo[2.2.1.0]heptane skeleton (Scheme 58). Not surprisingly, most syntheses related to 58.1 centre about a Diels-Alder reaction between cyclopentadiene and an appropriate dienophile (Scheme 59). Baumann and Hoffmann²⁷⁷ reported the Diels-Alder reaction with (Z)-4-chloro-2-methyl-2-pentenal (59.1), which gives exclusively the *exo* addition product 59.2. Bertrand *et al.*²⁷⁸ use the allenic ester 59.3. The obtained adducts 59.4 are reduced at the more reactive norbornene double bond using Brown's nickel boride catalyst²⁷⁹ and further alkylated to give products of type 58.1. Using this approach, Oppolzer and Chapuis²⁸⁰ have reported a highly enantioselective synthesis of (-)- β -santalene. An efficient π -facial selection was obtained in the initial cycloaddition step using the camphor derived ester 59.5. In the presence of a titanium catalyst a 98% yield of almost exclusive endo adduct 59.6 (98:2 ratio) in 99% optical purity was obtained. β -Santalol has been obtained through alkylation of 59.7 with iodide 59.8.²⁸¹ The synthesis of ester 59.12 via Claisen rearrangement of 59.11 has been reported by the same authors.²⁸²

A number of acid-catalyzed rearrangements of readily available bicyclo[2.2.1]heptanes have been used for the obtention of the desired substitution pattern (Scheme 60). Money's 1973 syntheses²⁸³ in this area centre about the Wagner-Meerwein rearrangements of the tosylates obtained from 60.1 [from

Scheme 58.

(+)-9-bromocamphor] and 60.3 [from (-)-8-iodocamphor] yielding (+)-epi- β -santalene (60.2) and (-)- β -santalene (60.4), respectively. Christenson and Willis^{284a} described the rearrangement of spirolactones 60.6 in acid medium^{284b} to 60.7. Epoxides 60.5 resulted from the epoxidation of racemic camphene. Camphenesultone (60.9), obtained by pyrolysis of 60.8 (from camphorsulfonic acid), is the central product in Wolinsky's work.²⁸⁵ Desulfurization of alkylated 60.10 proceeds via ring opening to sulfone 60.11 followed by sodium amalgam treatment (49% overall).^{285b} The synthesis of (+)-sesquifenchene (58.3) by Bessiere et al.²⁸⁶ is characterized by two consecutive skeletal rearrangements. Ether 60.12 yields alcohol 60.13 upon treatment with BF₃-etherate; the tosylate then undergoes Wagner-Meerwein rearrangement to 60.14 upon solvolysis. In one of Grieco's sesquifenchene syntheses an analogous rearrangement (60.15 to 60.16) is reported.²⁸⁷

Syntheses of α -santalene and α -santalol (cf 58.5) almost invariably start from the readily available (-)- π -bromotricyclene (61.1). A notable exception is the Monti-Larsen²⁸⁸ synthesis of α -santalene. The desired tricyclene nucleus (61.5) is obtained via photoisomerization of 61.2 to ketone 61.3, followed

Scheme 61.

by photochemical Wolff rearrangement of the corresponding diazoketone 61.4; further alkylation with 5-iodo-2-methyl-2-pentene proceeds via the dianion of acid 61.5. An improved synthesis of α -transbergamotene (61.10)²⁸⁹ has been reported by the same authors.²⁹⁰ Ketone 61.6 is alkylated to 61.7 and subsequent ring closure effected with potassium t-amylate. Haller-Bauer fragmentation yields 61.9, which is correctly patterned for further transformation into α -trans-bergamotene (61.10).

2. The tricarbocyclic systems

Five syntheses of gymnomitrol (62.1) have been reported in 1979. ^{291–296} The relative location of the functionalities on the 4,8-methanoperhydroazulene framework suggests an aldol or Claisen condensation as a key step (Scheme 62). Three successful approaches were realized along this line. ^{291–293} Following this protocol the synthesis of a cis-bicyclo [3.3.0] octanone possessing three contiguous quaternary centres (cf 62.2–62.4) is mandatory; we will return to this specific problem in Section V. Both the groups of Coates ²⁹¹ and Paquette ²⁹² have attempted unsuccessfully to effect the aldol cyclization of the methyl ketone 62.2 under various acid and basic conditions; the difficulties associated with the projected aldol would be of kinetic origin. ²⁹² After extensive experimentation

Scheme 62

aldehyde 62.3 was found to cyclize under basic conditions leading to an equilibrium mixture of 62.3 and 62.6 (18% isolated yield with Na_2CO_3 in methanol—water; 291 30% isolated yield 2% KOH in methanol). 292 It is interesting to note that the epimeric keto aldehydes 62.8 and 62.9 cyclize readily. The moderate success obtained for the direct aldol reaction of 62.3 prompted Coates et al. 291 to have recourse to enol lactone reductive cyclization; upon treatment of 62.7 with DIBAH the desired alcohol 62.6 was obtained in high yield (92% crude). The approach of Welch et al. 293 involves the condensation of keto ester 62.4 which leads to 62.5.

Buchi's method for the preparation of bicyclo[3.2.1]octanes via acid-catalyzed addition of p-quinonemonoketals to olefins, leads eventually to gymnomitrol, albeit in low yield (Scheme 62).²⁹⁴ Condensation of quinone ketal 62.10 with 1,2-dimethylcyclopentene gives the two diastereoisomers 62.12 and 62.13 (ratio 3.3:1, respectively) in 10% yield. This low yield is ascribed to crowding in the transition state next to additional angle strain created by the cyclopentane. A pinacol-type rearrangement of a bicyclo[2.2.2]octane is the key reaction in the synthesis of Kodama et al.²⁹⁵ Epoxide 62.14 undergoes the required skeletal rearrangement to 62.15 on alumina chromatography.

A preferred key-step for the formation of the carbocyclic skeleton of the copa- and ylangosesquiterpenes (cf 63.1) has been the intramolecular alkylation of a correctly functionalized bicyclic precursor, such as $63.2,^{296.297}$ $63.3,^{298a}$ 63.4^{299} and $63.5,^{300}$ Interestingly, the intramolecular alkylation of 63.6 does not yield the product from α -alkylation (63.8), but rather cyclopropane derivative $63.7,^{298b}$ McMurry and Silvestri^{298b} converted the latter into desired enone 63.8 via vinylcyclopropane rearrangement. Both Matsumoto³⁰¹ and Piers^{299,300} form the tricyclic framework starting from a bicyclo[3.2.1]octanone. In Matsumoto's synthesis the required skeleton is formed by

Scheme 63.

Scheme 64.

acid-catalyzed (GPLC Shimalite column) rearrangement of photoadduct 63.9, which is obtained from racemic piperitone. Both separate adducts eliminated methanol and rearranged to give the same 1:1 mixture of epimers 63.10. Piers et al.^{299,300} use the Dieckmann condensation with sodium hexamethyldisilazane as the base (63.11 to 63.12).

Baldwin's approach to cyclosativene involves a π -cationic cyclization. Trifluorethanolysis of the acetylene 63.13 leads to the required skeleton 63.15. The removal of the ether in 63.14 in the presence of the terminal acetylene was effectively done by successive treatment of a liquid ammonia solution of 63.14 with methyllithium and sodium. Note that the outcome of the cyclization is greatly affected by the length of the chain (cf n in 63.16): n = 0 and n = 2 only tricarbocyclic ethers are obtained. The diastereoisomeric ketones 63.18 were obtained by Bakuzis et al. 303 via treatment of bromide 63.17 with tri-n-butylstannane.

The sinularene synthesis of Oppolzer et al.³⁰⁴ centres about the intramolecular type-I-magnesiumene reaction in which the carbanion, resulting from ene reaction of the Grignard derivative of 63.21, is reacted with carbon dioxide to 63.22. Whereas the disalts of dienolate dianions usually lead to α alkylation, the tiglic acid derivative gives γ -alkylated 63.20 in high yield upon reaction with the known norbornene 63.19.

Since 1973 a few syntheses in the longi-series (64.1) have been recorded. Johnson et al.³⁰⁵ obtained the carbon framework of longifolene directly via π -cyclization of cyclopentenol 64.2. The expeditive synthesis of Oppolzer et al.³⁰⁶ centres about the retro aldol cleavage of photoadduct 64.5 to diketone 64.6. Enone 64.4 was obtained via acylation of the morpholine enamine of cyclopentanone with 3-cyclopentene carbonyl chloride. A crucial intermediate in Welch's syntheses³⁰⁷ in this area is aldol product 64.8, which is obtained through the reductive cyclization of enol lactone 64.7.

Syntheses in the copa-series (65.1) have formed the 4-membered ring through intramolecular alkylation of a cis-decalin keto tosylate $(65.2)^{308}$ and via sensitized photoisomerization of triene $65.3^{.309}$ A few sesquiterpenes possessing the tricyclo[4.3.1.0^{3.7}]decane nucleus (cf 66.1) are known. Corey's syntheses³¹⁰ centre about the cyclization of a properly functionalized bicyclic precursor (66.2 and 66.3). Other approaches proceed via intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction of the 1,3-cyclohexadienes $66.4^{.311}$ $66.5^{.312}$ and $66.6^{.313}$ The activating effect of the carbonyl group (cf 66.5) is noteworthy since at the moment of cycloaddition the carbonyl and olefinic π -systems must be nearly orthogonal.

In view of the bicyclo[2.2.2] octane moiety present in seychellene (67.1), patchuli alcohol (67.2) and norpatchoulenol (67.3) the intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction is a logical key-step. Four synthetic approaches along this line have been reported. Compared to the cases shown in Scheme 66 the dienes are less activated and harsher conditions are necessary for reaction, except in the case of 67.8. In this case

Scheme 65.

$$\frac{66.1}{\frac{66.2}{66.3}} \underset{R \cdot CH_2OTs}{R \cdot CH_2OTs} = \frac{66.4}{\frac{66.4}{66.5}} \underset{R \cdot Me}{R \cdot SiMe_3, X \cdot H, OTHP} \underset{R \cdot Me}{160^{\circ}C} \underset{R \cdot Me}{60^{\circ}C} \underset{R \cdot Me}{87^{\circ}/.} \\ \frac{66.5}{66.5} \underset{R \cdot PO(OE1)_2, X \cdot H, OH}{140^{\circ}C} \underset{140^{\circ}C}{89^{\circ}/.}$$

Scheme 66.

Frater³¹⁴ isolated a 3:1 mixture of isomers 67.9 and 67.10, the latter being eventually transformed into seychellene. The reasons for this rate enhancement and lack of regioselectivity are unclear. Yoshikoshi et al.³¹⁵ obtained diene 67.6 by in situ Cope elimination at 430° in a GPLC apparatus of the dimethylamine oxide, obtained from 67.5. Both Oppolzer et al.³¹⁶ and Näf-Ohloff et al.³¹⁷ started from cyclohexadienone 67.16 for the synthesis of dienes 67.11 and 67.13. The former group uses 3-triethylsilyloxypentadienyl lithium for the introduction of the required enone side chain.³¹⁶ With regard to the configuration at the starred carbon in 67.13 and 67.14 Näf and Ohloff³¹⁷ observed a complete diastereoselectivity. Only diastereoisomer 67.13 leads to adduct formation, due to the presence of a severe 1,3-diaxial methyl-methyl interaction in 67.14. Furthermore, the presence of base was found necessary for successful reaction. This may be an example of "alkoxide accelerated cycloaddition". Base-catalyzed interconversion of 67.14' into the reactive isomer 67.13' via alkoxide accelerated electrocyclic reaction has also been suggested.³¹⁸

The approaches of Jung and McCombs³¹⁹ use the potential of alkyl-substituted siloxydienes in the intermolecular Diels-Alder reaction (cf 67.17). The endo isomers 67.18 and 67.19 are predominantly formed in good yield. Ketone 67.20, obtained from 67.18, gives a quantitative yield upon cyclization in base.³²⁰ The intramolecular Michael addition of enone 67.19 proved difficult to realize: only with a mixture of titanium tetrachloride and titanium tetraisopropoxide in methylene chloride is a reasonable yield of 67.22 observed.

The strategy of Yamada et al.³²¹ for the synthesis of seychellene (67.1) is based on the tandem intramolecular Michael-aldol cyclization of aldehyde 67.23 to 67.24 (ratio 8:1). The bridgehead alcohol present in patchouli alcohol (67.2) was originally obtained by Danishefsky and Dumas³²² via reductive cyclization of an appropriate keto halogenide. Both Mirrington³²³ and Teisseire³²⁴ have elaborated on the same reaction type (cf 67.25 to 67.26). An interesting variation has recently been reported.³²⁵ Treatment of 67.27 (R = Me or H) with sodium in THF leads to olefin 67.29 via nucleophilic addition of the intermediate radical carbanion. The epimeric 67.28 with incorrect ether configuration for S_N2' displacement, however, undergoes radical cyclization to 67.30. The best cyclization yields were obtained for the methoxymethyl ether derivative (R').

Since 1973 the zizaene-type sesquiterpenes (cf 68.1) and the nor-derivative khusimone (68.2) have attracted considerable synthetic interest. An interesting, although low yielding, approach to the zizaene skeleton has been reported by Hoffmann et al.³²⁶ and involves an intramolecular allyl cationic cycloaddition; crude 68.3 is passed at -30° down a neutral alumina column, coated with ZnCl₂, and gives a mixture of 68.4 (ratio $\sim 1:1$).

Adequately functionalized bicyclo[4.3.0]nonanes have been used for obtaining the desired skeleton. In the approach of Liu and Chan³²⁷ alkylation is effected on 68.5. Piers and Banville¹⁶¹ obtained acetal 68.8 via alkylation of sulfone 68.7 and desulfurization. Prezizaene, epimeric with zizaene (68.1, $R = \beta$ -methyl) has been obtained by Vettel and Coates³²⁸ via cyclization-rearrangement of the diazoketone, obtained from 68.9, which led to a mixture of ketones 68.10 (29%) and 68.11 (34%). The synthesis of khusimone (68.2) by Oppolzer and Pitteloud^{329a} centres about the regio- and stereoselective type-II-magnesium-ene reaction of the Grignard derivative of 68.16 to bicyclic precursor 68.17. The introduction of the side chain involves 1,4-addition of the lithium enolate of 68.12 (R = Et), followed by in situ alkylation with allyl bromide (50% yield). The same sequence applied to 68.13 leads predominantly to chiral 68.15 (37% isolated yield), representing a 48% asymmetric induction of the starred centre. ^{329b}

Intramolecular photochemical cycloaddition, followed by appropriate fragmentation, has also been applied for obtaining the zizaene nucleus. In the synthesis of Barker and Pattenden³³⁰ irradiation

Scheme 67.

Scheme 68.

of enol acetate 68.18 leads to a mixture of two adducts; the major adduct 68.19 is further transformed to mesylate 68.20 which upon Grob fragmentation gives 68.21. Previously Oppolzer and Burford³³¹ have reported a similar sequence in which photoadducts 68.23 and 68.24 (ratio 1:3, respectively) were transformed into diketones via retro-aldol-type fragmentation.

Different approaches have been followed in the synthesis of cedranoid sesquiterpenes (cf 69.1). Breitholle and Fallis³³² have used the intramolecular Diels-Alder reaction of 69.2 to obtain 69.3, in which the unsaturated 5-membered ring is further enlarged to 69.4. The Diels-Alder approach of Büchi et al.³³³ leads to bicyclo[2.2.2]octenes 69.6 and 69.7 (ratio 1:3, respectively) which are separated and rearranged in acid. Wheareas isomer 69.6 gives isokushimone (69.9) in high yield, the other isomer 69.7 leads to a mixture of 69.9 (15%) and 69.8 (40%). Cationic π -cyclizations starting from spirocompounds have been used at different occasions in the past (cf 69.10 to 69.11). $^{334-337}$ Cyclization of 69.12 with acetyl methanesulfonate to 69.13 has been reported by Corey and Balanson. 338 The approach used by Stevens and Yates³³⁹ involves the synthesis of Stork's intermediate 69.17. 340 Diester 69.14 on irradiation in acetophenone as solvent and photosensitizer gives the oxa-di- π -methane product 69.15, which on further treatment with Me₂CuLi and decarboxylation gives 69.16. Horton and Pattenden³⁴¹ construct diketone 69.20 via a sequence involving Michael addition of the enolate derived from 69.18

with 2-nitrobut-2-ene, and intra-Michael addition of 69.19. A spectacular 4-step synthesis of cedrene (69.11) has been developed by Wender and Howbert³⁴² using the intramolecular variant of the 1,3-photoaddition of olefins to arenes. Although 26 cycloadducts are formally possible only 69.22 and 69.23 (1:1 ratio) are found upon irradiation of 69.21, the result of high mode selectivity (meta cycloadducts), regioselectivity (addition across alkyl or alkoxyl groups of the arene), endo/exo selectivity and stereoinduction by the secondary methyl group. Both adducts were converted to enone 69.24 in 59% yield.

Piers and Zbozny³⁴³ have reported a synthesis of isolongifolene (70.1) based upon the intramolecular alkylation of cyclohexenone 70.2 which gives the product of γ -alkylation 70.3. The synthesis of clovene (70.4) by Schultz and Dittami³⁴⁴ proceeded via α' -alkylation of enone 70.5. The resulting enone 70.6 was further transformed into cyclopentenone 70.7, an intermediate in Raphael's

clovene synthesis.³⁴⁵
The tetracarbocyclic sesquiterpenes ishwarane (71.1) and ishwarone (71.2) constitute an interesting synthetic challenge. In the synthesis of Piers and Hall³⁴⁶ 71.4 is obtained from olefin 71.3 via dimethyl diazomalonate addition and subsequent transformation of the diester; dichloride 71.4 is then ring closed in base. Cory et al.³⁴⁷ have obtained both sesquiterpenes starting from olefin 71.7 ($X = H_2$ or O). Dibromocarbene addition leads to 71.8 (X = O), which on further treatment with methyllithium leads to ishwarone (71.2). Carbene generation in the presence of methyllithium ($X = H_2$; carbontetrabromide, methyllithium, -70°), however, gives directly ishwarane (71.1) upon raising the temperature to -30° . In both cases the regiospecific one-step carbon insertion proceeds via 71.9. The olefins 71.3 and 71.7 (X = O) are not available via direct Diels-Alder reaction and were obtained via

alkylative sequences. Intramolecular nitrone—olefin cycloaddition was applied by Funk et al. 348 for the preparation of secoishwaranol (71.13). A single isoxazolidine (71.12) is obtained by treatment of ketone 71.11 with benzylhydroxylamine in ethanol. A reductive fragmentation sequence was used to obtain 71.11 from cycloadduct 71.10, an intermediate in the Kelly synthesis. 349 The direct construction of the tetracyclic ishwarane skeleton via bicycloannulation has been reported by Hagiwara et al. 350 Michael addition of the enolate derived from 71.14 on α -bromoacrylate gives intermediate 71.15, which forms in situ the required 3-membered ring via internal Michael attack to the enone moiety, followed by an intramolecular displacement of the bromine atom. Unfortunately, the reaction gives a low yield of desired 71.16 (20%) and isomeric 71.17 (12%).

The synthesis of albene (72.1) by Baldwin and Barden³⁵¹ features the cyclopentenone annulation sequence 72.3 to 72.4; the protected keto aldehyde, obtained upon reduction of 72.3, gives 72.4 in good yield when treated with methanolic potassium hydroxide. Anhydride 72.2 was prepared via the known photochemical cycloaddition with benzophenone as sensitizer. A transition metal-mediated protocol was applied by Trost and Renaut.³⁵² The formal [3+2] cycloaddition of 72.6 to unsaturated diester 72.5 gives 72.7; tetrakis(triisopropyl phosphite)palladium, prepared in situ from triisopropyl phosphite and palladium acetate, was the catalyst of choice. Complete deoxygenation of 72.9, obtained from keto diol 72.8 via the phosphoramidate method, was effected by lithium in ethylamine (82% yield). Dreiding et al.³⁵³ have used the thermal rearrangement of α -acetylenic ketones to 2-cyclopentenones for the synthesis of albene (72.1). Thermolysis of 72.11 gives predominantly (> 90%) enone 72.4 which can be isolated in 45% yield.

Scheme 71.

Scheme 72.

Since its discovery in 1978 quadrone (73.1) has attracted considerable synthetic interest. Both Danishefsky et al. 354 and Helquist et al. 355 have assembled the carbocyclic skeleton by intramolecular alkylative formation of the 6-membered ring starting from a properly constituted cis-fused diquinane (73.2 to 73.3, and 73.4 to 73.5, respectively). In both cases the axial carbomethoxy group is obtained; the reasons for this specificity remain to be clarified. In Danishefsky's approach 73.7 is obtained from 4,4-dimethylcyclopentenone via conjugate addition and trapping with the γ -electrophilic equivalent of acetoacetate. 356 Diquinane 73.9, precursor of 73.2, is obtained from 73.8 via Mukaiyama reaction. 357 Helquist's route proceeds through 73.12, which was obtained via Piers cyclopentenone annulation procedure; 35 this enone is treated with the lithium enolate of methyl phenylmercaptoacetate followed by formaldehyde to yield 73.13, which is further transformed to 73.4.

The groups of Schlessinger³⁵⁸ and Vandewalle³⁵⁹ have independently reported an almost identical Diels-Alder approach to quadrone. While the former group reported the sole formation (48% yield) of exo-adduct 73.16 upon heating of 73.14 in toluene-acetonitrile at 120°, Vandewalle et al.³⁵⁹ observed the formation of 73.15 and 73.16 (ratio 1:3; 60% conversion) in refluxing toluene. Both groups converted 73.16 (and 73.15)³⁶⁰ into the desired cis-decalin system (cf eventual configuration at starred carbon in 73.1) via allylic oxidation (CrO₃, 3,5-dimethylpyrazole) and alkylation (LDA, CH₃I) to 73.17, followed by catalytic hydrogenation.

The synthesis of Burke et al. 360 centres about the site selective Michael addition of 73.20 to 73.21, followed by internal aldolization to 73.22. Aldehyde 73.21 is obtained selectively when using morpholine and p-toluenesulfonic acid in benzene. Spirocycle 73.19 is synthesized using intramolecular vinylsilane acylation (cf 47.10). In the synthesis of Yoshii et al. 361 the enol ether of 73.23 is treated with chloromethyl methyl ether in the presence of zinc-copper couple and diiodomethane, followed by propargylaluminium sesquibromide, to give 73.24. Cyclobutylcarbinyl cation rearrangement of 73.24 leads, after saponification and oxidation, to a mixture from which ketone 73.25 is isolated in 31% yield. The presence of a substituted bicyclo [3.2.1] octane moiety in quadrone's skeleton prompted Monti and Dean³⁶² to investigate a rearrangement route starting from bicyclo[2.2.2]octenone 73.27. Acidcatalyzed rearrangement affords the more stable dione 73.29 quantitatively; under controlled conditions 73.28 can be isolated. A tandem aldol-pinacol transformation, involving silyl migration (73.31 to 73.32), leads directly to diketone 73.33 upon treatment of 73.30 with potassium t-butoxide. The synthesis of Kende et al. 363a centres about the Pd(II)-mediated cycloalkenylation 363b of TMS ether 73.35 which gives a 8:1 ratio of 73.36 and 73.37, respectively. The rate-determining step would involve a nucleophilic attack of the enol ether double bond upon the palladium coordinated exocyclic olefin. The desired enolate anion for the synthesis of 73.35 was uniquely obtained via treatment of 73.34 with 0.95 equiv. of LDA.

Scheme 73.

Scheme 74.

The synthesis of the unstable marine furanosesquiterpene spiniferin-1 (74.5) has recently been described by Marshall and Conrow.³⁶⁴ The 1,6-methano[10]annulene structure suggests a norcaradiene-cycloheptatriene-type electrocyclic rearrangement as a possible route.³⁶⁵ This was effected on 74.1 through the use of base; alkylation of the enolate with ethyl iodoacetate gave 74.2 which on further base-treatment led to a mixture of acid 74.3, ester 74.4 and minor amounts of spiniferin-1 (74.5).

IV. ISOLATED RINGS

The synthesis of cuparanes (75.1) requires the creation of two adjacent quaternary centres on a 5-membered ring, one of which bears a p-methylphenyl group (Scheme 75). Since 1973 a number of different approaches have been reported. In several syntheses quaternization has involved methylation α to a carbonyl or conjugative addition to a cyclopentenone (76.1 to 76.2, 366 76.3 to 76.4 367). Casares and Maldonado 368 reported the interesting transformation of 76.5 to β -cuparenone (76.6). Instead of benzylic radical formation, the peripheral bond is reductively cleaved in accord with the concept of orbital overlap.

In several approaches the required skeleton has been formed through ring expansion (Scheme 77). Leriverend et al.³⁶⁹ obtained cyclopentanone 77.4 upon stereoselective rearrangement of exocyclic epoxides 77.3 with anhydrous lithium iodide. A less stereoselective opening of a similar epoxide has led to the formation of a mixture of α - and β -cuparenone.^{369c} Cyclobutanone 77.2 resulted from regioselective thermal cycloaddition of 77.1 and in situ generated dimethylketene. In recent work reported by Greene et al.³⁷⁰ the use of dichloroketene enables the synthesis of 77.6, which is subsequently ring enlarged to cyclopentanone 77.7. Geminal substitution via cleavage-methylation leads to α -cuparenone (77.8). The latter product has been obtained by Krief et al.³⁷¹ via acid rearrangement of cyclobutanol 77.11. Cyclobutanone 77.10 resulted in turn from the acid rearrangement of the methylseleno cyclopropane 77.9. The same authors reported the almost quantitative conversion of epoxide 77.14 to β -cuparenone with lithium iodide and 12-crown-4. Cyclobutanone 77.13 was directly formed upon base treatment of 77.12 and does not arise from the acidic rearrangement of an intermediate oxaspiropentane.³⁷²

Scheme 76.

The cuparane skeleton has also been obtained by ring contraction of epoxide 78.1 (Scheme 78). The remarkable rearrangement of alcohol 78.3 to herbetene (78.4) has been observed by Fratér³⁷⁴ and supposedly involves the intermediacy of cyclopropyl carbinyl ions.

Scheme 78.

Jung and Radcliffe³⁷⁵ have used "three-carbon annulation" for the synthesis of β -cuparenone (Scheme 79). Unfortunately, tetrasubstituted olefin 79.3 did not enter Diels-Alder reaction with cyclopentadiene derivative 79.1. However, reaction of the latter with 79.2 does yield the *endo*-adduct 79.4 (35% after several days). In a further sequence the product was transformed to 79.5, which was successively oxidatively cleaved, hydrolyzed and decarboxylated to 79.6. Noyori *et al.*³⁷⁶ have

Scheme 80.

described a very expeditious synthesis of α -cuparenone (77.8) based on the Fe₂(CO)₉-promoted coupling between α,α' -dibromo ketone 79.7 and an arylated olefin. If not very efficient, the reaction is highly stereoselective (94:6) due to the relative stability of intermediate 79.8, formed by electrophilic attack of 79.9 on the olefinic substrate. The [3+2]cycloaddition of enolether 79.10 to the same styrene derivative has also been reported to yield α -cuparenone (27% yield) next to regiosomer 79.11 (16%).

In a synthesis of cuparene De Mayo et al.³⁷⁸ have used the interesting photocyclization of thione 80.1 to thiol 80.2, followed by elimination to the corresponding cyclopentene (mercuric acetate; 65% overall). β -Cuparenone has been obtained directly via intramolecular ketocarbene insertion into the benzylic C—H bond of 80.3.³⁷⁹ Wenkert et al.²¹⁷ applied β -oxocyclopropyl ketone fragmentation for the synthesis of α -cuparenone. Thermal decomposition of diazoacetone in enol ether 80.4 in the presence of copper bronze gave 80.5. Hydrolysis and aldol ring closure of the resulting keto aldehyde gave enone 80.6. It is interesting to note that application of the Nazarov reaction for constructing the cuparane skeleton from 80.8 did not prove very successful. Paquette et al.³⁸⁰ subjected the latter dienone, readily obtained from vinylsilane 80.7, to a variety of acid conditions and only observed formation of the desired cyclopentenone 79.6 (10% yield) with borontrifluoride etherate. The stability of intermediate cation 80.9 has been invoked for this somewhat surprising result.

The Claisen rearrangement has also found application in this area (Scheme 81). Chandrasekaran and Turner³⁸¹ reported the [3,3]sigmatropic rearrangement of the silyl ester enolate derived from 81.1 to acid 81.2, which was subsequently decarboxylated (lead tetraacetate, cupric acetate) to a precursor of herbetene (78.4). The overall sequence from 3-methylbenzoic acid proceeds in 52% yield. The classical Claisen rearrangement of phenol ether 81.3 is advantageously carried out in the presence of N-trimethylsilyldiethylamine which directly leads to ether 81.4 in good yield; without etherification of the resulting phenol, furan ring closure to the exocyclic double bond is observed.³⁸²

The synthesis of laurene (75.2) and related products via olefination of the corresponding 2,3,3-trisubstituted cyclopentanones is rendered difficult by the concomitant epimerization at the methyl group.³⁸³ We will return to this problem in Section V. The halogenated marine sesquiterpenes allolaurinteral (related to laurene 75.2) and aplysin (75.3) were synthesized by Ronald et al.³⁸⁴ following Scheme 82. Reaction of lithio derivative 82.1 with cyclopentenone 82.3 gives unstable chlorohydrine 82.4. The mixed phenolic acetal serves as a directing and stabilizing group for aromatic metallation.

Scheme 81.

The use of chiral 82.2 [cf(-)]-isopinocampheol] enables diastereoisomeric resolution: diastereoisomer 82.4 (R' = Me, R = isopinocamphyl), obtained in 37% yield, eventually yields natural (-)-aplysin. Solvolysis of 82.4 in methanol containing potassium hydroxide gives 82.5. The introduction of a methyl group is performed on the corresponding chloride with methylmagnesium bromide; this introduction appears to take place with retention of configuration and could involve an ion-pair process.

Scheme 83.

The trichothecane antibiotic sesquiterpenes, a class of fungal metabolites, possess the common tetracyclic 12,13-epoxytrichothec-9-ene skeleton (83.2) and are biogenetically related to trichodiene (83.1). Syntheses of the latter require control over two adjacent chiral quaternary centres which are free to rotate about a common C—C single bond. Lack of control results in the concomittant formation of bazzanene, as in the recently reported study of Suda (Scheme 84). In this work Claisen rearrangement of enol ether 84.3, directly obtained from the Wittig reaction on formate 84.2 gives a mixture of aldehydes 84.4. Subsequent Wolff-Kishner reduction led to a 1:1 mixture of trichodiene (83.1) and bazzanene (84.5).

Scheme 84.

In 1974 Masuoka et al. 386 reported the stereoselective formation of 85.2 and 85.4 from the bicyclic precursors 85.1 and 85.3 (Scheme 85). Several approaches aiming at trichothecanes have used this ring closure type (vide infra). Obviously, a stereoselective synthesis along this line necessitates control of at least three centres. As in the case of trichodiene (83.1) two vicinal quaternary centres on different rings must be created with the correct relative configuration. In many syntheses this is accomplished via stereochemically controlled operations in a bi- or tricyclic system which is subsequently fragmented. These fragmentation approaches are discussed first.

Scheme 85.

Scheme 86.

Masuoka and Kamikawa³⁸⁷ used the acid fragmentation of photoadduct 86.1 to 86.2 in the synthesis of 12,13-epoxytrichothec-9-ene (83.2). Yamakawa *et al.*³⁸⁸ isolated photoadduct 86.3 among several other products; reverse aldol reaction leads to α -diketone 86.4, a precursor for norketotrichodiene.

The bicyclo[2.2.2] octene substructure has also served the same basic purpose in two examples. Still and Tsai³⁸⁹ reported a synthesis of trichodermol in which bicyclic enone **87.4** is obtained via anionic fragmentation of **87.3**. The latter was obtained via cyclopentenone **87.2**, which resulted from epoxidation and Herz-Favorskii ring contraction of Diels-Alder adduct **87.1**. The conversion of tricyclic alcohol **87.5** to enone **87.6** via a similar fragmentation has also been described by Kodama *et al.*³⁹⁰

Two groups have reported stereoselective syntheses of trichodiene (83.1) starting from a cis-fused bicyclic lactone. Welch $et\ al.^{391}$ converted 88.1 stereoselectively into 88.2 or its epimer (starred carbon) depending on the order of sequential alkylation. Hydrogenolysis with calcium in liquid ammonia gives a mixture of tri- and disubstituted olefins (88.3) in good yield. Dieckmann condensation of the corresponding diester led to cyclopentanones 88.4 in high yield. The ester 88.5 gave directly keto ester 88.6 upon treatment with sodium bis(trimethylsilyl)amide. Schlessinger and Schultz³⁹² obtained the vicinal quaternary centres with the desired configuration via Lewis acid catalyzed Diels-Alder reaction of 2-(phenylthio)methyl-1,3-butadiene on the α -methylene lactone 88.8.

Following model studies of Roush³⁹³ the oxabicyclo[3.2.1] octanone framework has been used to obtain stereoselectively the three chiral centres necessary for eventual trichothecane synthesis according to Scheme 85. Again Schlessinger et al.³⁹⁴ applied Diels-Alder quaternization on a α -methylene lactone (89.2). Hydrolysis of the adduct gave 89.3 as the sole unsaturated enone, which was further transformed to verrucarol (83.5). A similar strategy has recently been applied by Roush and D'Ambra.³⁹⁵ In both syntheses the α -methylene lactones were obtained directly from 89.1 and 89.5, respectively (Section V). An enantioselective synthesis of anguidine has been described by Brooks et al.³⁹⁶ starting from lactone 89.9, obtained in optically active form via asymmetric microbial reduction of 2-allyl-2-methyl-1,3-cyclopentanedione. Stereoselective quaternization was realized via an aldol sequence on 89.10. The efficient ring closure of 89.12 required here the protection of the primary hydroxyl group in contrast to the above cases 89.4 and 89.8.

Scheme 87.

Scheme 89.

Trost and McDougal³⁹⁷ have reported a synthesis of verrucarol (83.5) whereby the trichothecane nucleus originates from nucleophilic displacement of a properly oriented leaving group, an approach that requires stereochemical control over one supplementary centre (cf 90.1). Diels-Alder adduct 90.3 was found to undergo a mild ene reaction to 90.4; only one of the two diastereotopic carbonyl groups can align itself in the proper orientation. After elaboration to lactone 90.5 a retroene reaction yields 90.6. The sequence 90.3 to 90.6 thus represents a diastereotopic differentiation and a method of protection. Inversion at the trimethylsilyloxy group in 90.7 is realized via hemiketal 90.8, presumably via trapping of the allylic carbonium ion by the hydrated form of the ketone. Eventual ring closure to 90.9 has been effected by fluoride initiated rearrangement.

The 5-membered ring of the trichothecane skeleton has also been formed by intramolecular aldolization. The first synthesis in the area, the Colvin-Raphael synthesis ³⁹⁸ of trichodermin (83.4), is based on this approach. Lithium aluminium tri-t-butoxyhydride converted exocyclic enol lactone 91.2 into 91.4 (< 10% yield) next to aldehyde 91.3. The latter, however, could not be induced to yield further aldol product 91.4. In line with the configuration-holding property of the coordinating metal, which

was previously observed upon reductive rearrangement of exocyclic enol lactones,³⁹⁹ the correct configuration of the hydroxyl group is obtained. However, application of the same strategy on 91.5 (cf verrucarol 83.5) proved unrewarding.⁴⁰⁰ The conceptually different aldol ring closure has been more successful. Fujimoto et al.⁴⁰¹ reported the high yield conversion of 91.7 to 91.8; the former is obtained as the hydrated form of the keto-aldehyde which results from the oxidative cleavage of 91.6. The analogous conversion (91.9 to 91.10) was reported by Kraus et al.⁴⁰² in their synthesis of calonectrin (83.7); a 6:1 ratio of diastereoisomeric alcohols was obtained. The stereoselective formation of the two adjacent chiral quaternary centres was realized via intramolecular alkylation of the enolate derived from 91.12. The cyclohexene ring was formed via Diels-Alder reaction; B(OAc)₃-catalyzed reaction gave predominantly the endo-adduct 91.11 (3.5:1) in modest yield.

The acid rearrangement of a cyclobutenyl carbinol (from 92.2) to the bridged cyclopentenol 92.3 has been reported by White et al.⁴⁰³ in a model study for verrucarol (83.5). Lactone 92.1 is obtained in good yield upon Diels-Alder reaction of 2-ethoxybutadiene with methyl coumalate.

Of special interest is the method for controlled formation of two contiguous quaternary centres developed by Pearson et al.⁴⁰⁴ The hexafluorophosphate 93.1 was found to react regio- and

Scheme 92.

Scheme 93.

stereospecifically at the methylated dienyl terminus with stabilized enolate anions. Reaction with the potassium enolate 93.2 gives a quantitative yield of two diastereoisomers 93.3 and 93.4. The protective property of the Fe(CO)₃ group toward a dienol ether is apparent in 93.5 and 93.6, which were obtained by sodium borohydride reduction of 93.3 and 93.4, respectively; unprotected diene is known to form a tetrahydrofuran derivative upon cyclization with the secondary hydroxyl group. A further useful property of the diene–Fe(CO)₃ system is the possibility for equilibration of 93.5, which involves initial protonation on the metal followed by proton transfer to the symmetrical allyl complex 93.7; reversal of the sequence can then give either 93.5 or 93.6. The conversion of the latter product to 93.8 also involved several oxidative conditions which did not effect decomposition of the iron complex.

V. INTRODUCTION OF FUNCTIONALIZED SIDE CHAINS

In this section some transformations of general interest are discussed which are related to the construction of functionalized side chains, such as the introduction of a α -methylene unit on a lactone, of an α -alkylidene group on a cyclic ketone, of an acrylic ester moiety, the construction of fused butenolide and furan units, alternatives for the Wittig alkylation, and quaternization reactions on a cyclic substrate. A complete survey of each topic being obviously beyond the scope of this report the focus will reside here on the novelty or the usefulness of the described reaction (sequence). The formation of α -methylene lactones has been reviewed in 1975 by Grieco⁴⁰⁵ and by Gammill *et al.*⁴⁰⁶ Since then several new methods for the α -methylenation of lactones have been proposed, but only a few of them have been used during total synthesis work. The original Grieco-Hiroi⁴⁰⁷ 3-step method (α -hydroxymethylation and subsequent elimination of the mesylate) has been modified by Schlessinger *et al.*³⁹⁴ and by Roush *et al.*³⁹⁵ (Scheme 94). It was observed that reaction of the enolate of **89.1** with monomeric formaldehyde at temperatures higher than previously described gives directly **89.2** and not the expected hydroxymethyl lactone.³⁹⁴ During the synthesis of **17.9**, Danishefsky *et al.* described a novel 5-step sequence, starting with reaction of **94.1** with Brederick's reagent.¹¹⁷ Subsequently, Ziegler

Scheme 94.

Scheme 95.

et al.¹⁶⁶ reported a highly efficient modification, which involves reduction of the intermediate vinylogous carbamate, ⁴⁰⁸ as is shown in sequence 94.3 to 94.5. A lithium liq. ammonia reduction of vinylogous carbamates has also been used.³⁹² A modification of the Parker-Johnson⁴⁰⁹ methodology has been described by Lansbury et al.; ^{170c} carboxylation of 94.3 with Stiles reagent leads to 94.6 which upon treatment with Eschenmoser's salt⁴¹⁰ is converted into 94.7. It should be noted that, in the vernolepin synthesis, Danishefsky et al.⁴¹¹ have treated directly lactone enolates with Eschenmoser's salt. Elimination of the β -methoxy group in 94.8 gives better results when "unsolvated" KOtBu in THF is used.^{170c}

In 1978 Gras⁴¹² described, on model compounds, the introduction of an α -methylene unit upon treatment of enolates with s-trioxane and N-methylanilinium trifluoroacetate. Recently Paquette and Han²⁹² observed that this method gives better results when paraformaldehyde is used (cf 95.1 to 95.2). House's method⁴¹³ for intercepting the intermediate keto alkoxide, as a metal chelate, during aldol reactions has substantially improved the formation of dehydrofukinone 95.3.^{32a} Although several other methods were investigated, Bohlmann and Otto²⁵ observed that only the Corey-Chen methodology,⁴¹⁴ via the α -dithiomethylene ketone 95.4, provides a viable route to 95.5.

An interesting method for the direct introduction of the acrylic ester moiety, reported by Still and Schneider, 17a is based on the Ireland-Claisen rearrangement. The intermediate β -pyrrolidinopropionate 96.2 is readily prepared from 96.1 (from 2.8). The silylketene formation, rearrangement and elimination steps represent a one-flask procedure. During the synthesis of (+)-confertin the Eschenmoser variant of the Claisen rearrangement has been employed for constructing 96.4. 166

In Scheme 97 three methods are given which are suitable for the formation of fused butenolide or furan units. Michael reaction of 97.1 with the unsaturated nitro compound 416 97.2 produces a mixture of 97.3 and 97.4 (2:1); the latter is then transformed into (\pm)-ligularone (8.10). Gariboldi et al. 417b studied the acylation with chloroacetyl chloride. Trapping of the enolate after complete stereoselective cuprate addition on 97.5 provides the β -furanone 97.6, a precursor of 97.7. de Groot et al. 418 reported a new annulation method for butenolides (e.g. 97.12) via hydrolysis of thiophenyl furan 97.11 which is formed as shown.

The lack of reactivity of hindered ketones with Wittig-reagents has stimulated the search for alternative methods. They are summarized in Scheme 98. Kende and Blacklock⁴¹⁹ observed poor reaction of 98.1 towards phosphor ylids, the Peterson reaction or TOSMIC. The homologation to 98.2 could be achieved by the Magnus-Roy⁴²⁰ method involving addition of lithium

Scheme 96.

methoxy(trimethylsilyl)methylide followed by elimination of TMSOH. Johnson and Meanwell observed that reaction of 32.3 with 98.4 exhibits remarkable diastereoselectivity as practically exclusively (> 30:1) diastereoisomer 98.5 is produced. This finding has been exploited in a methylenation—resolution procedure starting with the S enantiomer of 98.4.

Despite previous unsuccessful reports Welch et al. converted trichoenone 98.7 to trichodiene (83.1) with 10 equiv. of Wittig reagent in scrupulously dried DMSO; under identical conditions, however, isomer 98.8 is unreactive.³⁹¹ The same transformation of 98.7 to 83.1 has been reported by Schlessinger and Schultz,³⁹² the reaction is carried out in a sealed tube for 60 hr at 80° (75% yield). The synthesis of 98.10 and 75.2 is rendered difficult due to epimerization at the ketone stage during Wittig reactions and to lack of reactivity with most other olefination procedures. Ketone 98.9 could however be methylenated, without epimerization, upon applying Nozaki's⁴²¹ method. McMurry and von

Scheme 98.

Scheme 99.

Beroldingen⁴²² have solved the problem for preparing 75.2 via Coates' method.⁴²³ The unreactivity of 98.11 in Wittig reactions led Moss and Chen⁴²⁴ to effect its transformation to 98.13 by initial reaction with the dianion of isobutyric acid to form 98.12.

The attachment of an isoprene unit to a neopentyl carbon is a classical problem in the synthesis of several bicyclic bridged sesquiterpenes (Section III.1). Whereas the method of choice has often involved the use of π -(1,1-dimethylallyl)nickel bromide,⁴²⁵ Linstrumelle et al.⁴²⁶ have recently reported the regioselective alkylation of the Grignard derivative of γ , γ -dimethylallyl chloride at the primary carbon under copper-catalyzed conditions; thus, iodopinene 99.1 gives α -cis-bergamotene (99.2) in high yield. The direct Wittig-type synthesis of Z-trisubstituted olefins has been described by Still et al.;⁴²⁷ the utility of the process is illustrated with a synthesis of α -santalol (58.5), obtained with more than 99% stereoisomeric purity.

In connection with the synthesis of spirocyclic sesquiterpenes (Section II) at several occasions an alkylation α to an aldehyde has been required. It is of interest here to compare the different methods that were used for the synthesis of 100.1. Martin and Chou²⁰⁶ applied the classical Stork enamine alkylation (100.2 to 100.3), whereas McCrae and Dolby²⁰⁷ had recourse to the Wittig-Stork metalloenamine method⁴²⁸ (100.4 to 100.5). In both cases was the desired methyl ketone 100.1 obtained via acidic Hg(II) treatment. A more direct route to 100.1 has recently been reported by Ho,²⁰⁸ and involves the direct alkylation of aldehyde 100.6 with allyl bromide under conditions of phase transfer catalysis,⁴²⁹ followed by Wacker's oxidation. Enamine alkylation has also been applied for the synthesis of 100.9²¹³ and 47.3;²¹⁰ enone 47.2 was, however, directly obtained from aldehyde 48.17 (methyl vinyl ketone, KOH, dioxane at 70°) allbeit in low yield ($\sim 20\%$).²⁰⁹

Crucial in three syntheses of gymnomitrol (62.1) is the obtention of a quaternary centre on a cisfused diquinane with the correct stereochemistry (starred centre in 101.1, 101.6 and 101.9). Paquette's approach involved the 1,4-addition of functionalized Grignard reagents on the relatively uncongested methylenic carbon of 95.2, followed by in situ methylation.²⁹² The synthesis of Coates et al. implies the reductive alkylation of an α -cyano ketone (cf 101.4 to 101.6). Of special interest here is the conversion of 101.2 to 101.4 presumably involving acetal exchange with the enol form of 101.2 to give ethoxyallyl enol

Scheme 100.

Scheme 101.

ether 101.3, followed by [3,3]sigmatropic rearrangement.²⁹¹ Welch's approach centres about the classical 1,4-addition-alkylation sequence, followed by introduction of the quaternary methyl via direct alkylation (101.8 to 101.9).²⁹³ The regioselective alkylation of 2-methylcyclopentanone to 101.7 was effected via enolate equilibration and quenching with the electrophile; this method was found superior to the House enol acetate or the Stork TMS enol ether methods.

Scheme 102.

Within the context of a total synthesis of bakkenolide-A (102.4) Evans et al.⁴³⁰ have reported the interesting transformation of 102.1 to 102.4 involving the highly stereoselective [2,3]sigmatropic rearrangement of the carbenoid or the conjugated base derived from carbamate 102.2 to dithioester 102.3.⁴³¹

Acknowledgements—The authors thank the National Fund for Scientific Research and the Ministerie voor Wetenschapsbeleid for financial assistance to the Laboratory. P. De Clercq is indebted to the Fund for a position as Research Associate. We also wish to thank Mr. Frans Audenaert, Mrs. Kathleen Bruncel, Dr. Paul Callant, Mr. Jimmy Dewanckele, Mr. Werner Grootaert, Mr. Jan Hoflack, Mr. Pol Storme, Mr. Johan Van der Eycken, Mr. Erik Van der Eycken, Mr. Dirk Van Haver and Dr. Luc Van Hijfte for their assistance in the literature search and in correcting the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- ^{1a}T. K. Devon and A. I. Scott, Handbook of Naturally Occurring Compounds, Vol. 2. Academic Press, New York (1972); ^bH. Yoshioka, B. N. Timmerman and T. J. Mabry, Sesquiterpene Lactones. University of Tokyo Press (1973); ^cN. H. Fischer, E. J. Olivier and H. D. Fischer, Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products, Vol. 38, p. 47. Springer, Berlin (1979).
- ^{2e}C. H. Heathcock, The Total Synthesis of Natural Products, Vol. 2 (1973); ^bS. L. Graham, C. H. Heathcock, M. C. Pirrung, F. Playac and C. T. White, Ibid. Vol. 5 (Edited by J. ApSimon). Wiley, New York (1983).
- ³ Review: ^aM. E. Jung, Tetrahedron 32, 3 (1976); ^bR. E. Gawley, Synthesis 777 (1976).
- ⁴⁰D. L. Snitman, N.-Y. Tsai, D. S. Watt, C. L. Edwards and P. L. Stotter, J. Org. Chem. 44, 2838 (1979); ^bJ. B. Wijnberg, J. Vader and A. de Groot, Ibid. 47, 4380 (1982).
- ⁵ P. A. Grieco and M. Nishizawa, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 582 (1976).
- 6a R. B. Miller and E. S. Behare, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 8102 (1974); D. J. Goldsmith and I. Sakano, J. Org. Chem. 41, 2095 (1976);
- F. Bohlmann and H. Kassner, Chem. Ber. 114, 2415 (1981).
- ⁷ D. Caine and G. Hasenhuettl, J. Org. Chem. 45, 3278 (1980).

- ⁸ R. Baker, D. A. Evans and P. G. McDowell, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 111 (1977).
- ⁹ R. B. Gammill and T. A. Bryson, Synth. Commun. 6, 209 (1976).
- ¹⁰ A. Murai, H. Taketsuru, K. Fujisawa, Y. Nakahara, M. Takasugi and T. Masamune, Chem. Lett. 665 (1977).
- ^{11a} J. P. Kutney, J. Balsevich and P. Grice, Can. J. Chem. 58, 2641 (1980); J. P. Kutney and A. K. Singh, Ibid. 60, 1842 (1982).
- ¹² J. W. Huffman and G. F. Hillenbrand, Tetrahedron 37, 269 (1981).
- ¹³ B. Lacoume and L. H. Zalkow, Tetrahedron Lett. 5881 (1966).
- ¹⁴ D. Caine and J. T. Gupton, J. Org. Chem. 39, 2654 (1974).
- 15 G. Stork and B. Ganem, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 6152 (1973).
- ¹⁶ F. E. Ziegler and K. J. Hwang, J. Org. Chem. 48, 3349 (1983).
- ^{17a} W. C. Still and M. J. Schneider, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 948 (1977); ^b W. C. Still and F. L. Van Middlesworth, J. Org. Chem. 42, 1258 (1977).
- ^{18a} H. C. Odom and A. R. Pinder, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 2193 (1972); ^b A. Van der Gen, L. M. Van der Linden and J. G. Witteveen, Rec. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 90, 1034 (1971); ^c J. E. McMurry, J. H. Musser, M. S. Ahmad and L. C. Blaszczak, J. Org. Chem. 40, 1829 (1975).
- ¹⁹ E. Piers, R. W. Batton and W. de Waal, Can. J. Chem. 47, 4307 (1969).
- ²⁰ Y. Takagi, Y. Nakahara and M. Matsui, Tetrahedron 34, 517 (1978).
- ²¹ A. R. Pinder, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1752 (1980).
- ²² M. McGuire, H. C. Odom and A. R. Pinder, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1879 (1974).
- ^{23a} K. Yamakawa, I. Izuta, H. Oka and R. Sakaguchi, Tetrahedron Lett. 2187 (1974); ^b K. Yamakawa, I. Izuta, H. Oka, R. Sakaquchi, M. Kobayashi and T. Satoh, Chem. Pharm. Bull. 27, 331 (1979).
- ^{24a} P. A. Zoretic and J. A. Golen, J. Org. Chem. 46, 3554 (1981); ^b P. A. Zoretic, J. L. Ferrari, C. Bhakta, F. Bazcelos and B. Branchaud, *Ibid.* 47, 1327 (1982).
- ²⁵ F. Bohlmann and W. Otto, Liebigs Ann. 186 (1982).
- ^{26a} T. Yanami, M. Miyashita and A. Yoshikoshi, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 525 (1979) and J. Org. Chem. 45, 607 (1980);
 ^b T. Inokuchi, G. Asanuma and S. Torii, Ibid. 47, 4622 (1982).
- ²⁷ F. Kido, K. Tsutsumi, R. Maruta and A. Yoshikoshi, J. Am, Chem. Soc. 101, 6420 (1979).
- ²⁸ A. G. Schultz and J. D. Godfrey, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 2414 (1980).
- ²⁹ V. K. Belavadi and S. N. Kulkarni, Ind. J. Chem. 14B, 901 (1976).
- ³⁰ O. Goldberg, I. Deja, M. Rey and A. S. Dreiding, Helv. Chem. Acta 63, 2455 (1980).
- 31 Review: "R. G. Carlson, Ann. Rep. Med. Chem. 9, 270 (1974); A. S. Onishchenko, Diene Synthesis, Israel Program for Scientific Translations, Jerusalem (1964).
- ^{32a} S. Torii, T. Inokuchi and T. Yamafuji, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 52, 2640 (1979); ^b S. Torii and T. Inokuchi, Ibid. 53, 2642 (1980); ^c S. Torii, T. Inokuchi and K. Handa, Ibid. 55, 887 (1982).
- ^{33a} S. Danishefsky and T. Kitahara, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 7807 (1974); S. Danishefsky, T. Kitahara, C. F. Yan and J. Morris, 1bid. 101, 6996 (1979); M. Miyashita, T. Kumazawa and A. Yoshikoshi, Chem. Lett. 163 (1979).
- ^{34a} I. Nagakura, S. Maeda, M. Ueno, M. Funamizu and Y. Kitahara, Chem. Lett. 1143 (1975); J. Nagakura, H. Ogata, M. Veno and Y. Kitahara, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 48, 2995 (1975).
- 35 E. J. Corey and D. S. Watt, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 2303 (1973).
- ^{36a} F. Bohlmann, H.-J. Förster and C. H. Fischer, *Liebigs Ann.* 1487 (1976); F. Bohlmann and E. Eickeler, *Ber. Disch. Chem. Bes.* 113, 1189 (1980); see also K. Yamakawa and T. Satoh, *Chem. Pharm. Bull. Tokyo* 25, 2535 (1977) and 26, 3704 (1978).
- Review: W. Oppolzer, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 16, 10 (1977); G. Brieger and J. N. Bennett, Chem. Rev. 63, 1 (1980).
 S. R. Wilson and D. T. Mao, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 6289 (1978); see also: S. D. Burke, T. W. Powner and M. Kageyama,
- Tetrahedron Lett. 4532 (1983).
- ³⁹ D. F. Taber and S. A. Saleh, Tetrahedron Lett. 2361 (1982).
- ⁴⁰ F. Näf, R. Decorzant and W. Thommen, Helv. Chem. Acta 65, 2212 (1982).
- ⁴¹ J. L. Gras, J. Org. Chem. 46, 3738 (1981).
- ⁴² D. F. Taber and B. P. Gunn, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 3992 (1979).
- ⁴³ S. R. Wilson and R. N. Misra, J. Org. Chem. 45, 5079 (1980).
- 44 O. P. Vig, I. R. Trehan and R. Kumar, Ind. J. Chem. 15B, 319 (1977).
- ^{45a} P. A. Jacobi and D. G. Walker, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 4611 (1981); P. A. Jacobi, D. G. Walker and I. M. A. Odeh, J. Org. Chem. 46, 2065 (1981).
- ⁴⁶ G. Stork and A. W. Burgstahler, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 77, 5068 (1955).
- ⁴⁷ A. Eschenmoser, L. Ruzicka, O. Jeger and D. Arigoni, Helv. Chem. Acta 38, 1890 (1955).
- 48 Review: U. S. Johnson, Angew Chem. 88, 33 (1976).
- ⁴⁹ E. E. Van Tamelen, Acc. Chem. Res. 8, 152 (1974).
- ⁵⁰ B. D. MacKenzie, M. M. Angelo and J. Wolinski, J. Org. Chem. 44, 4042 (1979).
- ⁵¹aJ. Marshall and P. G. M. Wuts, J. Org. Chem. 43, 1086 (1978); ^bJ. A. Marshall and P. G. M. Wuts, Ibid. 42, 1794 (1977).
- ⁵² J. L. Cooper and K. E. Harding, Tetrahedron Lett. 3321 (1977).
- 53 D. Nasipuzi and G. Das, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 2776 (1979).
- 54 T. Matsumoto and S. Usui, Chem. Lett. 105 (1978).
- 55 H. Akita, T. Naito and T. Oishi, Chem. Lett. 1365 (1979).
- ⁵⁶ R. J. Armstrong, F. L. Harris and L. Weiler, Can. J. Chem. 60, 673 (1982).
- ⁵⁷ G. Stork, Pure and Applied Chemistry, Vol. 17. Butterworths, London (1968).
- 58 Review: J. d'Angelo, Tetrahedron 32, 2979 (1976).
- ⁵⁹ G. H. Posner, C. E. Whitten, J. J. Sterling and D. J. Brunelle, Tetrahedron Lett. 2591 (1974).
- 60 F. Näf, R. Decorzant and W. Thommen, Helv. Chem. Acta 68, 1808 (1975).
- ⁶¹ M. Tada, Y. Sugimoto and T. Takahashi, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 53, 2966 (1980).
- ^{62a} F. E. Ziegler and P. A. Wender, Tetrahedron Lett. 449 (1974); F. E. Ziegler, G. R. Reid, W. L. Studt and P. A. Wender, J. Org. Chem. 42, 1991 (1977).
- 63 J. Ficini and A. M. Touzin, Tetrahedron Lett. 1081 (1977).
- 64 G. Büchi and H. Wuest, J. Org. Chem. 44, 546 (1979).
- 65 M. Julia, Acc. Chem. Res. 4, 386 (1971).
- 66 J. E. McMurry and L. C. Blaszczak, J. Org. Chem. 39, 2217 (1974).
- ⁶⁷ S. J. Branca, R. L. Lock and A. B. Smith, J. Org. Chem. 42, 3165 (1977).

- ^{68a} R. P. Gregson and R. N. Mirrington, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 598 (1973); ^b R. P. Gregson and R. N. Mirrington, Aust. J. Chem. 29, 2037 (1976).
- 69 K. P. Dastur, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 2605 (1974).
- ⁷⁰ Review on the synthetic aspects of the [2+2]photocycloaddition reaction: W. L. Dilling, *Photochem. Photobiol.* 25, 605 (1977); S. W. Baldwin, *Org. Photochem.* 5, 123 (1981).
- 71 M. Van Audenhove, D. De Keukeleire and M. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron Lett. 1979 (1980) and Bull. Soc. Chim. Belges 90, 255 (1981).
- ^{72a}P. A. Wender and J. C. Lechleiter, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 4321 (1978); ^bS. R. Wilson, L. R. Phillips, Y. Pelister and J. C. Huffman, Ibid. 101, 7373 (1979); ^cP. A. Wender and J. C. Hubbs, J. Org. Chem. 45, 365 (1980); ^dP. A. Wender and L. J. Letendre, Ibid. 45, 367 (1980). P. A. Wender and S. L. Eck, Tetrahedron Lett. 1871 (1982).
- 73 G. L. Lange, F. C. McCarthy, Tetrahedron Lett. 4749 (1978).
- ^{74a} J. R. Williams and J. F. Callaghan, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 404, 405 (1979); ^b J. Org. Chem. 45, 4479 (1980); Ibid. 46, 2665 (1981); ^c J. R. Williams and T. P. Cleary, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 626 (1982).
- 75 L. Van Hijste and M. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron Lett. 2229 (1982); blbid. unpublished results.
- ⁷⁶ G. Marini-Bettolo, S. P. Sahoo, G. A. Poulton, T. Y. R. Tsai and K. Wiesner, Tetrahedron 36, 719 (1980).
- 77a S. W. Baldwin and N. G. Landmesser, Tetrahedron Lett. 4443 (1982); S. W. Baldwin and J. M. Wilkinson, Ibid. 2657 (1979).
- P. de Mayo, Acc. Chem. Res. 4, 41 (1971).
 S. W. Baldwin and R. E. Gawley, Tetrahedron Lett. 3969 (1975).
- ⁸⁰ E. R. Koft and A. B. Smith III, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 5568 (1982).
- 81 D. H. R. Barton, Helv. Chem. Acta 42, 2604 (1959).
- 82a D. Caine and S. L. Graham, Tetrahedron Lett. 252 (1976); D. Caine, S. L. Graham and T. T. Vora, J. Org. Chem. 45, 3798 (1980).
- 83a H. Taguchi, H. Yamamoto and H. Nozaki, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 50, 1592 (1977); T. Hiyama, M. Shinoda and H. Nozaki, Tetrahedron Lett. 3529 (1979); T. Hiyama, M. Shinoda, H. Saimoto and H. Nozaki, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 54, 2747 (1981).
- 84 Review: L. A. Paquette, Topics in Current Chemistry 79, 41 (1979) and 119, 1 (1984), Springer, Berlin.
- H. Hashimoto, K. Tsuzuki, F. Sakan, H. Shirahama and T. Matsumoto, Tetrahedron Lett. 3745 (1974).
 M. Mijashita, T. Yanami, A. Yoshikoshi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 4679 (1976).
- ⁸⁷ R. M. Jacobson, A. Abbaspour and G. P. Lahm, *J. Org. Chem.* 43, 4650 (1978).
- 88 M. Shibasaki, K. Iseki and S. Ikegami, Tetrahedron Lett. 3587 (1980).
- 89 C. Exon, M. Nobbs and P. Magnus, Tetrahedron 37, 4515 (1981).
- 90 L. A. Paquette, G. D. Annis, H. Schostarez and J. F. Blount, J. Org. Chem. 46, 3768 (1981).
- 91 L. A. Paquette, R. A. Galemno Jr. and J. P. Springer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 6975 (1983).
- 92 W. Oppolzer, K. Bättig and T. Hudlicky, Tetrahedron 37, 4359 (1981).
- 93 E. Piers, B. Abeysekera and J. R. Scheffer, Tetrahedron Lett. 3279 (1979).
- 94 P. T. Lansbury, N. Y. Wang and J. E. Rhodes, Tetrahedron Lett. 1829 (1971).
- 95s P. T. Lansbury, N. Y. Wang and J. E. Rhodes, Tetrahedron Lett. 2053 (1972); P. F. Schuda and H. R. Heimann, Ibid. 4267 (1983).
- ⁹⁶ M. Koreeda and S. G. Mislankar, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 7203 (1983).
- 97 B. M. Trost and D. P. Curran, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 5699 (1980) and Tetrahedron Lett. 4929 (1981).
- 98 D. W. Brooks, P. G. Grothans and W. L. Irwin, J. Org. Chem. 47, 2820 (1982).
- ^{99a} S. Danishefsky and S. J. Etheredge, J. Org. Chem. 47, 4791 (1982); S. Danishefsky, R. Zamboni, M. Kahn and S. J. Etheredge, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 2097 (1980) and 103, 3460 (1981).
- 100a A. Leone-Bay and L. A. Paquette, J. Org. Chem. 47, 4173 (1982); L. A. Paquette and A. Leone-Bay, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 7352 (1983).
- 101 A. Marfat and P. Helquist, Tetrahedron Lett. 4217 (1978).
- 102 For another application see T. Tsunoda, M. Kodama and S. Itô, Tetrahedron Lett. 83 (1983).
- ¹⁰³ W. H. Parsons, R. H. Schlessinger and M. L. Quesada, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 889 (1980).
- 104 W. G. Dauben and S. M. Walker, J. Org. Chem. 46, 1103 (1981).
- 105 J. Oehldrich, J. M. Cook and U. Weiss, Tetrahedron Lett. 4549 (1976).
- 106a J. Wrobel, K. Takahashi, V. Honkan, G. Lannoye, J. M. Cook and S. H. Bertz, J. Org. Chem. 48, 139 (1983); R. W. Weber and J. M. Cook, Can. J. Chem. 56, 189 (1978).
- ¹⁰⁷ B. M. Trost and D. P. Curran, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 7381 (1981) and Tetrahedron Lett. 5023 (1981).
- 108 B. M. Trost and D. M. T. Chan, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 6429 (1979).
- 109 S. Knapp, U. O'Connor and D. Mobillio, Tetrahedron Lett. 4557 (1980).
- 110 G. Pattenden and S. J. Teague, Tetrahedron Lett. 5471 (1982).
- ¹¹¹ G. Stork, R. K. Boeckmann, D. F. Taber, W. G. Still and J. Singh, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 7107 (1979).
- 112 G. Pattenden and G. M. Robertson, Tetrahedron Lett. 4617 (1983).
- ¹¹³ B. M. Trost, C. D. Shuey, F. DiNinno Jr. and S. S. McElvain, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 1284 (1979).
- 114 H. Stetter and H. Kuhlmann, Ber. Dtsch. Chem. Ges. 109, 2890 (1976).
- 115 C. Exon and P. Magnus, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 2477 (1983).
- 116 S. V. Ley and P. J. Murray, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1252 (1982).
- 117 S. Danishefsky, M. Hirama, K. Gombatz, T. Harayama, E. Berman and P. F. Schuda, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 7020 (1979).
- ^{118a} L. A. Paquette and Y. K. Han, J. Org. Chem. 44, 4014 (1979); L. A. Paquette and G. D. Annis, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 7358 (1983).
- 119 K. E. Stevens and L. A. Paquette, Tetrahedron Lett. 4393 (1981).
- 120 Review: C. Santelli-Rouvier and M. Santelli, Synthesis 429 (1983).
- ¹²¹ F. Cooke, R. Moerck, J. Schwindeman and P. Magnus, J. Org. Chem. 45, 1046 (1980).
- 122 Review; W. Oppolzer and V. Snieckus, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 17, 476 (1978).
- 123 W. Oppolzer, K. Bättig and T. Hudlicky, Tetrahedron Lett. 4359 (1981).
- 1244 W. Oppolzer and F. Marazza, Helv. Chem. Acta 64, 1575 (1981); W. Oppolzer and K. Bättig, Ibid. 64, 2489 (1981).
- 1250 H. Schostarez and L. A. Paquette, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 722 (1981); b Tetrahedron 37, 4431 (1981).
- 126 Review: J. M. Conia and P. LePerchec, Synthesis 1 (1975).
- 127 Y. Yamamoto and K. J. Maruyama, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 3240 (1978).
- 128 W. Oppolzer and K. Bättig, Tetrahedron Lett. 4669 (1982).

```
129 Review: H. Lehmkuhl, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. II, 87 (1981).
```

- 130 M. Karpf, J. Huguet and A. S. Dreiding, Helv. Chem. Acta 65, 13 (1982).
- M. Karpf and A. S. Dreiding, Tetrahedron Lett. 4569 (1980); ^b Helv. Chem. Acta 64, 1123 (1981).
 J. Huguet, M. Karpf and A. S. Dreiding, Helv. Chem. Acta 65, 2413 (1982).
- 133a R. D. Little and G. W. Muller, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 2744 (1981); B. D. Little, R. G. Higby and K. D. Moeller, J. Org. Chem. **48**, 3139 (1983).
- 134 J. A. Berson, Acc. Chem. Res. 11, 446 (1978).
- 135a R. D. Little and K. D. Moeller, J. Org. Chem. 48, 4487 (1983); B. D. Little and K. J. Stone, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 6976 (1983).
- 136 R. D. Little, G. L. Carroll and J. L. Petersen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 928 (1983).
- ¹³⁷ A. E. Greene, M. J. Luche and J. P. Deprès, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 2435 (1983).
- ¹³⁸ E. Wenkert and T. S. Arrhenius, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 2030 (1983).
- 139a T. Hudlicky, T. M. Kutchan, S. R. Wilson and D. T. Mao, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 6351 (1980); B. P. Short, J. M. Revol, B. C. Ranu and T. Hudlicky, J. Org. Chem. 48, 4453 (1983).
- 140a B. A. Dawson, A. K. Ghosh, J. L. Jurlina and J. B. Stothers, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 204 (1983); A. L. Johnson, N. W. Petersen, M. B. Rampersad and J. B. Stothers, Can. J. Chem. 52, 4143 (1974).
- 141 P. F. Schuda and M. R. Heimann, Tetrahedron Lett. 4267 (1983).
- 142 M. C. Pirrung, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 7130 (1979) and 103, 82 (1981).
- ¹⁴³ A. B. Smith and P. J. Jerris, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 194 (1981) and J. Org. Chem. 47, 1845 (1982).
- 144e G. Mehta and A. V. Reddy, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 756 (1981); G. Mehta, A. V. Reddy, A. N. Murthy and D. S. Reddy, Ibid. 530 (1982).
- ¹⁴⁵ G. Mehta, D. S. Reddy and A. N. Murthy, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 824 (1983).
- 146a K. Tatsuta, K. Akimoto and M. Kinoshita, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 6116 (1979); b Tetrahedron 37, 4365 (1981).
- 147a A. M. Birch and G. Pattenden, Tetrahedron Lett. 991 (1982); b J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1195 (1980).
- 148 For reviews: see ref. 6 in ref. 149a.
- 149a P. A. Wender and G. B. Dreyer, Tetrahedron 37, 4445 (1981); b J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 5805 (1982).
- 150 P. A. Wender and J. J. Howbert, Tetrahedron Lett. 5325 (1983).
- ¹⁵¹ D. Caine and F. N. Tuller, J. Org. Chem. 38, 3663 (1973).
- ¹⁵² D. F. Taber and R. W. Korsmeyer, J. Org. Chem. 43, 4925 (1978).
- 153 F. H. Köster and H. Wolf, Tetrahedron Lett. 3937 (1981).
- ¹⁵⁴ E. J. Corey and H. L. Pearce, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 5841 (1979).
- 155 K. Tanaka, F. Uchiyama, K. Sakamoto and Y. Inubushi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 4965 (1982).
- ¹⁵⁶ W. S. Greenlee and R. B. Woodward, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 6075 (1976).
- ¹⁵⁷ R. K. Boeckman Jr. and Soo Sung Ko, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 7146 (1980).
- 158 J. E. McMurry and W. Choy, Tetrahedron Lett. 2477 (1980).
- ¹⁵⁹ C. R. Johnson and N. A. Meanwell, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 7667 (1981).
- 160a M. F. Semmelhack, S. Tomoda and K. M. Hurst, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 7568 (1980); M. F. Semmelhack, S. Tomoda, H. Nagaoka, S. D. Boettger and K. M. Hurst, Ibid. 104, 147 (1982).
- ¹⁶¹ E. Piers and J. Banville, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1138 (1979).
- 162 H. J. Liu and W. H. Chan, Can. J. Chem. 57, 708 (1979).
- ¹⁶³ J. A. Marshall and W. R. Snyder, J. Org. Chem. 40, 1656 (1975).
- 164a P. A. Grieco, Y. Ohfune and G. Majetich, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 7393 (1977); b 104, 4226 (1982).
- 1650 P. A. Grieco and Y. Ohfune, J. Org. Chem. 45, 2251 (1980); P. A. Grieco, Y. Ohfune, G. F. Majetich and C. L. J. Wang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 4233 (1982).
- 166a F. E. Ziegler and J. M. Fang, J. Org. Chem. 46, 825 (1981); F. E. Ziegler, J. M. Fang and C. C. Tam, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 7174 (1982).
- ¹⁶⁷ A. G. Schultz and L. A. Motyka, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 5800 (1982).
- ¹⁶⁸ M. F. Semmelhack, A. Yamashita, J. C. Tomesch and K. Hirotsu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 5565 (1978).
- 169a N. H. Andersen and H. S. Uh, Synth. Commun. 3, 125 (1973); and Tetrahedron Lett. 2079 (1973); N. H. Andersen and F. A. Golec Jr., Ibid. 3783 (1977).
- 170a P. T. Lansbury and A. K. Serelis, Tetrahedron Lett. 1909 (1978); P. T. Lansbury, A. K. Serelis, J. E. Hengeveld and D. G. Hangauer Jr., Tetrahedron 36, 2701 (1980); P. T. Lansbury and J. P. Vacca, Ibid. 38, 2797 (1982).
- ¹⁷¹ E. Piers and I. Nagakura, Tetrahedron Lett. 3237 (1976).
- 172 J. P. Marino and L. J. Browne, Tetrahedron Lett. 3245 (1976).
- ¹⁷³ P. A. Wender and M. P. Filosa, J. Org. Chem. 41, 3490 (1976).
- 174 P. A. Wender, M. A. Eissenstat and M. P. Filosa, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 2196 (1979).
- 175a D. Termont, P. De Clerq, D. De Keukeleire and M. Vandewalle, Synthesis 46 (1977); P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, J. Org. Chem. 42, 3447 (1977); M. Vandewalle, P. De Clercq, M. Demuynck, P. Kok, G. Rozing and F. Scott, Stereoselective Synthesis of Natural Products (Edited by W. Bartmann and E. Winterfeldt), p. 130. Excerpta Medica (1979).
- 176aG. P. Rozing, P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, Synthesis 225 (1978), P. Kok, P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, J. Org. Chem. 44, 4553 (1979); M. Demuynck, P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, Ibid. 44, 4863 (1979).
- 177a A. A. De Vreese, P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron Lett. 4767 (1980); A. A. De Vreese, M. Demuynck, P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron 39, 3039 (1983); 'Ibid. 3049 (1983).
- 178 H. J. Liu and S. P. Lee, Tetrahedron Lett. 3699 (1977).
- ¹⁷⁹ W. Oppolzer and R. D. Wylie, Helv. Chem. Acta 63, 1198 (1980).
- ¹⁸⁰ C. H. Heathcock, C. M. Tice and T. C. Germroth, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 6081 (1982).
- 181 P. Kok, N. D. Sinha, P. Sandra, P. De Clercq and M. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron 38, 2279 (1982).
- 182 Ref. 2a, pp. 395-424.
- 183 Y. Mazur and N. Nussim, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 83, 3911 (1961).
- 184 C. H. Heathcock and R. Ratcliffe, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 994 (1968).
- 185 C. H. Heathcock, E. G. DelMar and S. L. Graham, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 1907 (1982).
- 186 G. H. Posner, K. A. Babiak, G. L. Loomis, W. J. Frazee, R. D. Mittal and I. L. Karle, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 7498 (1980). 1874 J. A. Marshall, W. F. Huffman and J. A. Ruth, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 4691 (1972); J. A. Marshall and J. A. Ruth, J. Org. Chem. 39, 1971 (1974).
- ¹⁸⁸ R. A. Kretchmer and W. J. Thompson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 3379 (1976).

```
1828
                                               M. VANDEWALLE and P. DE CLERCO
189 J. A. Marshall and R. H. Ellison, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 4312 (1976).
190a M. R. Roberts and R. H. Schlessinger, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101,7626 (1979); G. J. Quallich and R. H. Schlessinger, Ibid. 101,
    7627 (1979).
<sup>191</sup> D. H. R. Barton, M. J. Day, R. H. Hesse and M. M. Pechet, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1764 (1975).
1924 K. Nagao, M. Chiba, I. Yoshimura and S. W. Kim, Chem. Pharm. Bull. 29, 2733 (1981); b Ibid. 31, 114 (1983); K. Nagao, M.
    Chiba, S. W. Kim, Ibid. 31, 414 (1983).
193a T. Fex, J. Froborg, G. Magnusson and S. Thorén, J. Org. Chem. 41, 3518 (1976); J. Froborg and G. Magnusson, J. Am. Chem.
    Soc. 100, 6728 (1978).
1944 F. Audenaert and M. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron Lett. 4521 (1981); b Ibid. unpublished results.
195 E. Wenkert amd K. Naemura, Synth. Commun. 3, 45 (1973).
1964 W. Oppolzer and R. L. Snowden, Helv. Chem. Acta 64, 2592 (1981); b Tetrahedron Lett. 4187 (1976).
<sup>197</sup> H. J. Liu and E. N. Browne, Can. J. Chem. 59, 601 (1981).
198 E. Piers and E. H. Ruediger, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 166 (1979).
1994 S. Danishefsky and K. Tsuzuki, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 6891 (1980); S. Danishefsky, R. L. Funk and J. F. Kerwin Jr., Ibid. 102,
    6889 (1980).
<sup>200</sup> R. E. Ireland, S. Thaisrivongs and C. S. Wilcox, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 1155 (1980).
<sup>201</sup> T. Matsumoto and S. Usui, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 56, 491 (1983).
<sup>202</sup> A. G. Gonzalez, J. Darias, J. D. Martin and M. A. Melian, Tetrahedron Lett. 481 (1978).
<sup>203</sup>e J. A. Marshall, S. F. Brady and N. H. Andersen, Progress in the Chemistry of Organic Natural Products, Vol. 31, p. 283.
   Springer, New York (1974); J. A. Marshall, N. H. Andersen and P. C. Johnson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 2748, 2750 (1967).
<sup>204a</sup> A. P. Krapcho, Synthesis 383 (1974); <sup>b</sup> Ibid. 425 (1976); <sup>c</sup> Ibid. 77 (1978).
<sup>205</sup> Review: S. F. Martin, Tetrahedron 36, 419 (1980).
<sup>206</sup> S. F. Martin and T. Chou, J. Org. Chem. 43, 1027 (1978).
<sup>207</sup> D. A. McCrae and L. Dolby, J. Org. Chem. 42, 1607 (1977).
<sup>208</sup> T. L. Ho, Synth. Commun. 12, 633 (1982).
<sup>209</sup> M. Pesaro and J.-P. Bachmann, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 203 (1978).
<sup>210</sup> G. L. Lange, E. E. Neidert, W. J. Orrorm and D. J. Wallace, Can. J. Chem. 56, 1628 (1978).
<sup>211</sup> D. Solas and J. Wolinsky, J. Org. Chem. 48, 670 (1983).
<sup>212</sup> T. Ibuka, K. Hayashi, H. Minakata, Y. Ito and Y. Inubushi, Can. J. Chem. 57, 1579 (1979).
<sup>213</sup> P. H. Curry Jr. and R. K. Singh, Tetrahedron Lett. 3325 (1973).
<sup>214</sup> G. Bozzato, J.-P. Bachmann and M. Pesaro, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1005 (1974).
<sup>215</sup> S. D. Burke, C. W. Murtiashaw, M. S. Dike, S. M. Smith-Strickland and J. O. Sauders, J. Org. Chem. 46, 2400 (1981).
<sup>216a</sup> A. Murai, S. Sato and T. Masamune, Tetrahedron Lett. 1033 (1981); <sup>b</sup> J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 511 (1982).
<sup>217</sup> E. Wenkert, B. L. Buckwalter, A. A. Craveiro, E. L. Sanchez and S. S. Sathe, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 1267 (1978).
<sup>218</sup> B. M. Trost, Acc. Chem. Res. 7, 85 (1974).
<sup>219a</sup> B. M. Trost and D. E. Keeley, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 1252 (1974); B. M. Trost, M. Preckel and L. M. Leichter, Ibid. 97, 2224
<sup>220</sup> B. M. Trost, K. Hiroi and N. Holy, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 5873 (1975).
<sup>221</sup> S. W. Baldwin and J. E. Fredericks, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 1235 (1982).
<sup>222</sup> S. W. Baldwin and J. M. Wilkinson, Tetrahedron Lett. 2657 (1979).
<sup>223</sup> G. Stork, R. L. Danheiser and B. Ganem, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 3414 (1973).
<sup>224</sup> G. Stork and R. L. Danheiser, J. Org. Chem. 38, 1775 (1973).
<sup>225</sup> S. Winstein and R. Baird, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 79, 756 (1957).
<sup>226</sup> E. J. Corey, N. N. Girotra and C. T. Mathew, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 1557 (1969).
<sup>227</sup> T. G. Crandall and R. G. Lawton, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 2127 (1969).
<sup>228</sup> S. Torii, K. Uneyama and K. Okamoto, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 51, 3590 (1978).
<sup>229</sup> T. R. Katsuri and M. Thomas, Ind. J. Chem. 10, 777 (1972).
<sup>230</sup> A. R. Pinder, S. J. Price and R. M. Rice, J. Org. Chem. 37, 2202 (1972).
<sup>231</sup> K. Yamada, H. Nagasc, Y. Hayakawa, K. Aoki and Y. Hirata, Tetrahedron Lett. 4963 (1973).
<sup>232</sup> P. M. McCurry Jr., R. K. Singh and S. Link, Tetrahedron Lett. 1155 (1973).
<sup>233</sup> S. Kanno, T. Kato and Y. Kitahara, Chem. Commun. 1257 (1967).
<sup>234</sup> P. Naegeli and R. Kaiser, Tetrahedron Lett. 2013 (1972).
<sup>235</sup> H. Wolf and M. Kolleck, Tetrahedron Lett. 451 (1975).
<sup>236</sup> L. E. Wolinsky and D. J. Faulkner, J. Org. Chem. 41, 597 (1976).
<sup>237</sup> E. E. Van Tamelen and E. J. Hessler, Chem. Commun. 411 (1966).
<sup>238</sup> I. Ichinose and T. Kato, Chem. Lett. 61 (1979).
<sup>239</sup> G. Büchi, D. Berthet, R. Decorzant, A. Grieder and A. Hauser, J. Org. Chem. 41, 3208 (1976).
<sup>240</sup> F. Näf, R. Decorzant and W. Thommen, Helv. Chem. Acta 58, 1808 (1975).
<sup>241a</sup> W. G. Dauben and D. J. Hart, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 1622 (1975); <sup>b</sup> Ibid. 99, 7307 (1977).
<sup>242</sup> P. L. Fuchs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 1607 (1974).
```

²⁴³ A. de Groot and D. J. M. Jansen, Tetrahedron Lett. 2709 (1976). See also: V. Dave and J. S. Whitehurst, J. Chem. Soc. C 393 (1973).²⁴⁴ J. Ficini, G. Revial and J. P. Genêt, Tetrahedron Lett. 22, 629, 633 (1981).

^{245a} M. F. Semmelhack, J. J. Harrison and Y. Thebtaranonth, J. Org. Chem. 44, 3275 (1979); ^bM. F. Semmelhack and A. Yamashita, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 5926 (1980).

²⁴⁶ S. G. Davies, M. L. H. Green and D. M. P. Mingos, Tetrahedron 34, 3047 (1978). ²⁴⁷ D. N. Kursanov, Z. N. Parnes and N. H. Loim, Synthesis 633 (1974).

^{248a} A. Tanaka, H. Uda and A. Yoshikoshi, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 188 (1967); ^b Ibid. 56 (1968).

²⁴⁹ J. N. Marx and L. R. Norman, J. Org. Chem. 40, 1602 (1975).

²⁵⁰ T. Rouessac, P. Beslin and J. M. Conia, Tetrahedron Lett. 3319 (1965).

²⁵¹ J. M. Conia, J. P. Drouet and J. Gore, Tetrahedron 27, 2481 (1971).

²⁵² W. Oppolzer, E. Pfenninger and K. Keller, Helv. Chem. Acta 56, 1807 (1973).

^{253a} W. Oppolzer and K. K. Mahalanabis, Tetrahedron Lett. 3411 (1975); W. Oppolzer, K. K. Mahalanabis and K. Battig, Helv. Chem. Acta 60, 2388 (1977).

- ²⁵⁴ D. W. Climton, Diss. Abstr. 42, 4422-B (1982).
- ^{255a} E. Piers, C. K. Lou and I. Nagakura, Tetrahedron Lett. 3233 (1976); Can. J. Chem. 61, 288 (1983).
- ²⁵⁶ T.-H. Yan and L. A. Paquette, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 3227 (1982).
- ²⁵⁷ J. E. McMurry, M. P. Fleming, K. L. Lees and L. R. Krepski, J. Org. Chem. 43, 3255 (1978).
- ²⁵⁸ A. Hosomi, A. Shirahata and H. Sakurai, Tetrahedron Lett. 3043 (1978).
- ²⁵⁹ P. J. Kropp, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 87, 3914 (1965).
- ²⁶⁰ D. H. R. Barton, P. de Mayo and M. Shafiq, J. Chem. Soc. 140 (1958).
- ²⁶¹ D. Arigoni, H. Bosshard, H. Bruderer, G. Büchi, O. Jeger and L. J. Krebaum, Helv. Chem. Acta 40, 1732 (1957).
- ²⁶² D. H. R. Barton and P. T. Gilham, J. Chem. Soc. 4596 (1960).
- ²⁶³a J. A. Marshall and P. C. Johnson, Chem. Commun. 391 (1968); J. A. Marshall and P. C. Johnson, J. Org. Chem. 35, 192 (1970).
- ²⁶⁴ D. Caine, A. A. Boucugnani and W. R. Pennington, J. Org. Chem. 41, 3632 (1976).
- ²⁶⁵ D. Caine and H. Deutsch, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 8030 (1978).
- ²⁶⁶ D. Caine, A. A. Boucugnani, S. T. Chao, J. B. Dawson and P. F. Ingwalson, J. Org. Chem. 41, 1539 (1976).
- ^{267a} E. Piers and P. M. Worster, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 2895 (1972); W. G. Dauben and E. J. Deving, J. Org. Chem. 31, 3794 (1966).
- ²⁶⁸ G. Stork and J. Ficini, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 83, 4678 (1961).
- ^{269a} M. Mongrain, J. Lafontaine, A. Belanger and P. Deslongchamps, Can. J. Chem. 48, 3273 (1970); ^b J. Lafontaine, M. Mongrain, M. Sergent-Guay, L. Ruest and P. Deslongchamps, Ibid. 58, 2460 (1980).
- ²⁷⁰ P. M. McCurry Jr., Tetrahedron Lett. 1845 (1971).
- ²⁷¹ J. D. White, J. F. Ruppert, M. A. Avery, S. Torri and J. Nokami, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 1813 (1981).
- ^{272a} C. Iwata, M. Yamada and Y. Shinoo Chem. Pharm. Bull. 27, 274 (1979); ^b C. Iwata, T. Fusaka, T. Fujiwara, K. Tomita and M. Yamada, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 463 (1981).
- ^{273a} W. Oppolzer, L. Gorrichon and T. G. C. Bird, Helv. Chem. Acta 64, 186 (1981); ^b W. Oppolzer, F. Zutterman and K. Bātig, 1bid. 66, 522 (1983).
- ²⁷⁴ T. R. Hoye, S. J. Martin and D. R. Peck, J. Org. Chem. 47, 331 (1982).
- ^{275a}M. Fetizon, S. Lazare, C. Pascard and T. Prange, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1407 (1979); D. D. Khac Manh, J. Ecoto, H. Fetizon, H. Colin and J. C. Diez-Masa, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 953 (1981).
- ²⁷⁶ D. A. Chass, D. Buddhasukh and P. D. Magnus, J. Org. Chem. 43, 1750 (1978).
- ²⁷⁷ M. Baumann and W. Hoffmann, Liebigs Ann. 743 (1979).
- ²⁷⁸ M. Bertrand, H. Monti and K. C. Huong, Tetrahedron Lett. 15 (1979).
- ²⁷⁹ C. A. Brown and V. K. Ahuja J. Org. Chem. 30, 2226 (1973).
- ²⁸⁰ W. Oppolzer and C. Chapuis, Tetrahedron Lett. 24, 4665 (1983).
- ²⁸¹ H. Monti, C. Corriol and M. Bertrand, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 5539 (1982).
- ²⁸² H. Monti, C. Corriol and M. Bertrand, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 947 (1982).
- ²⁸³ G. L. Hodgson, D. F. MacSweeney, R. W. Mills and T. Money, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 235 (1973).
- ^{284a} P. A. Christenson and B. J. Willis, J. Org. Chem. 44, 2012 (1979), ^b Ibid. 45, 3068 (1980).
- ²⁸⁵a J. Wolinsky, R. L. Morhenke and R. Lau, Synth. Commun. 2, 165 (1972); D. Jolas and J. Wolinsky, J. Org. Chem. 48, 1988 (1983).
- ²⁸⁶ Y. Bessiere-Chretien and C. Grison, C.R. Acad. Sci. Ser. C 275, 503 (1972).
- ²⁸⁷a P. A. Grieco and Y. Masaki, J. Org. Chem. 40, 150 (1975); P. A. Grieco and J. J. Reap, Synth. Commun. 5, 347 (1975).
- ²⁸⁸ S. A. Monti and S. D. Larsen, J. Org. Chem. 43, 2282 (1978).
- ²⁸⁹ E. J. Corey, D. E. Cane and L. Libit, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 7016 (1971).
- ²⁹⁰ S. D. Larsen and S. A. Monti, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 8015 (1977).
- ²⁹¹ R. M. Coates, S. K. Shah and R. W. Mason, J. Am, Chem. Soc. 104, 2198 (1982); Jibid. 101, 6765 (1979).
- ^{292a} L. A. Paquette and Y.-K. Han, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 1831 (1981); Y.-K. Han and L. A. Paquette, J. Org. Chem. 44, 3731 (1979).
- ^{293a}S. C. Welch, S. Chayabunjonglerd and A. S. C. P. Rao, J. Org. Chem. 45, 4086 (1980); S. C. Welch and S. Chayabunjonglerd, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 6768 (1979).
- ²⁹⁴ G. Büchi and P.-S. Chu, Tetrahedron 97, 4509 (1981).
- ²⁹⁵ M. Kodama, T. Kurihara, J. Jasaki and S. Itô, Can. J. Chem. 57, 3343 (1979).
- ^{296a}G. L. Hodgson, D. F. MacSweeney and T. Money, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 2113 (1973); C. R. Eck, G. L. Hodgson, D. F. MacSweeney, R. W. Mills and T. Money, Ibid. 1938 (1974).
- ²⁹⁷ P. A. Collins and D. Wege, Aust. J. Chem. 32, 1819 (1979).
- ^{298a}J. E. McMurry, J. Org. Chem. 36, 2826 (1971); J. E. McMurry and M. G. Silvestri, Ibid. 41, 3953 (1976).
- ^{299a} E. Piers, R. W. Britton, R. J. Keziere and R. D. Smillie, Can. J. Chem. 49, 2623(1971); ^b E. Piers, R. W. Britton, M. B. Geraghty, R. J. Keziere and F. Kido, Ibid. 53, 2838 (1975); ^c E. Piers, M. B. Geraghty and M. Soucy, Synth. Commun. 3, 401 (1973); ^d E. Piers, M. B. Geraghty, R. D. Smillie and M. Soucy, Can. J. Chem. 53, 2849 (1975); ^d E. Piers and H.-P. Isenrung, Can. J. Chem. 55, 1039 (1977).
- ^{300a} E. Piers, R. W. Britton, R. J. Keziere and R. D. Smillie, Can. J. Chem. 49, 2620(1971); E. Piers, R. W. Britton, M. B. Geraghty, R. J. Keziere and R. D. Smillie, Ibid. 53, 2827 (1975).
- 301 M. Yangiya, K. Kaneko, T. Kaji and T. Matsumoto, Tetrahedron Lett. 1761 (1979).
- ³⁰² S. W. Baldwin and J. C. Tomesch, J. Org. Chem. 45, 1455 (1980).
- ³⁰³ P. Bakuzis, O. O. S. Campos and M. L. F. Bakuzis, J. Org. Chem. 41, 3261 (1976).
- 304 W. Oppolzer, H. F. Strauss and D. P. Simmons, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 4673 (1982).
- 305 R. A. Volkmann, G. C. Andrews and W. A. Johnson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 4777 (1975).
- ³⁰⁶ W. Oppolzer and T. Godel, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 2583 (1978).
- ³⁰⁷ S. C. Welch and R. L. Walters, J. Org. Chem. 39, 2665 (1974).
- 308 E. J. Corey and D. S. Watt, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 2302 (1973).
- 309 M. Miyashita and A. Yoshikoshi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 1917 (1974).
- 310a E. J. Corey, M. Behforouz and M. Ishiguro, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 1608 (1979); ^b E. J. Corey and M. Ishiguro, Tetrahedron Lett. 2745 (1979).
- 311 H. Yamamoto and H. L. Sham, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 101, 1609 (1979).
- ³¹² G. A. Schiehser and J. D. White, J. Org. Chem. 45, 1864 (1980).
- 313 E. Piers and M. Winter, Liebigs Ann. 973 (1982).
- 314 G. Frater, Helv. Chem. Acta 57, 172 (1974).

- 315 N. Fukamiya, M. Kato and A. Yoshikoshi, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1843 (1973).
- 316 W. Oppolzer and R. L. Snowden, Tetrahedron Lett. 3505 (1978).
- 317a F. Naf, R. Decorzant, W. Giersch and G. Ohloff, Helv. Chem. Acta 64, 1387 (1981); F. Naf and G. Ohloff, Ibid. 57, 1868 (1974). ³¹⁸ Ref. 2b, p. 464.
- ³¹⁹ M. E. Jung and C. A. McCombs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 5207 (1978).
- ³²⁰ R. N. Mirrington and K. J. Schmalzl, J. Org. Chem. 37, 2877 (1972).
- 321 K. Yamada, Y. Kyotani, S. Manabe and M. Suzuki, Tetrahedron 35, 293 (1979).
- 322 S. Danishefsky and D. Dumas, Chem. Commun. 1287 (1968).
- 323 R. N. Mirrington and K. J. Schmalzl, J. Org. Chem. 37, 2871 (1972).
- 324 P. Teisseire, P. Pesnelle, B. Corbies, M. Plattier and P. Manpetit, Recherches 19, 69 (1974).
- 325a M. Bertrand, P. Teisseire and G. Pelerin, Tetrahedron Lett. 21, 2051 (1980); b Ibid. 2055 (1980).
- 326a H. M. R. Hoffmann, R. Henning and O. R. Lalko, Angew. Chem. 94, 464 (1982); b H. M. R. Hoffmann and R. Henning, Helv. Chem. Acta 66, 828 (1983).
- 327a H.-J. Liu and W. H. Chan, Can. J. Chem. 60, 1081 (1982); BRef. 162.
- 328 P. R. Vettel and R. M. Coates, J. Org. Chem. 45, 5430 (1980).
- 329a W. Oppolzer and R. Pitteloud, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 6478 (1982); b W. Oppolzer, R. Pitteloud, G. Bernardinelli and K. Baettig, Tetrahedron Lett. 4975 (1983).
- 330 A. J. Barker and G. Pattenden, Tetrahedron Lett. 22, 2599 (1981).
- 331 W. Oppolzer and S. C. Burford, Helv. Chem. Acta 63, 788 (1980).
- 332a E. G. Breitholle and A. G. Fallis, Can. J. Chem. 54, 1991 (1976); B. G. Breitholle and A. G. Fallis, J. Org. Chem. 43, 1964 (1978).
- 333 G. Büchi, A. Hauser and J. Limacher, J. Org. Chem. 42, 3323 (1977).
- 334 E. J. Corey, N. N. Girotra and C. T. Mathew, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 1557 (1969).
- 335 T. G. Grandau and R. G. Lawton, Ibid. 91, 2127 (1969).
- 336 P. Naegeli and R. Kaiser, Tetrahedron Lett. 2013 (1972).
- 337 P. T. Lansbury, V. R. Haddon and R. C. Stewart, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 896 (1974).
- 338 E. J. Corey and R. D. Balanson, Tetrahedron Lett. 3153 (1973).
- 339a K. E. Stevens and P. Yates, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 990 (1980); P. Yates and K. E. Stevens, Tetrahedron 37, 4401 (1981).
- 340 G. Stork and F. H. Clarke, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 83, 3114 (1961).
- 341 M. Horton and G. Pattenden, Tetrahedron Lett. 24, 2125 (1983).
- 342 P. A. Wender and J. J. Howbert, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 688 (1981).
- 343 E. Piers and M. Zbozny, Can. J. Chem. 57, 2249 (1979).
- 344 A. G. Schultz and J. P. Dittami, J. Org. Chem. 48, 2318 (1983).
- 345 P. Doyle, J. R. McLean, R. D. H. Murry, W. Parker and R. A. Raphael, J. Chem. Soc. 1344 (1965).
- 346 E. Piers and T.-W. Hall, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 880 (1977).
- 3474R. M. Cory and F. R. McLaren, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 587 (1977); B. M. Cory, D. M. T. Chan, F. R. McLaren, M. H. Rasmussen and R. M. Renneboog, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 4133 (1979).

 348 R. L. Funk, L. H. M. Horcher, J. U. Daggett and M. M. Hansen, *J. Org. Chem.* 48, 2632 (1983).
- ³⁴⁹ R. B. Kelly, J. Zamecnik and B. A. Beckett, Can. J. Chem. 50, 3455 (1972).
- 350 H. Hagiwara, H. Uda and T. Kodama, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 963 (1980).
- 351 J. E. Baldwin and T. C. Barden, J. Org. Chem. 46, 2442 (1981). 352 B. M. Trost and P. Renaut, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 6668 (1982).
- 353 G. G. G. Maszardo, M. Karpf and A. S. Dreiding, Helv. Chem. Acta 66, 627 (1983).
- 3544 S. Danishefsky, K. Vaughan, R. C. Gadwood and K. Tsuzuki, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 4262 (1980); S. Danishefsky, K. Vaughan, R. Gadwood and K. Tsuzuki, Ibid. 103, 4136 (1981).
- 355 W. K. Bornack, S. S. Bhagwat, J. Ponton and P. Helquist, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 4647 (1981).
- 356 G. Stork, D. F. Taber and M. Marx, Tetrahedron Lett. 2445 (1978).
- 357 K. Saigo, M. Osaki and T. Mukaiyama, Chem. Lett. 163 (1976).
- 358 R. H. Schlessinger, J. L. Wood, A. J. Poss, R. A. Nugent and W. H. Parsons, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 48, 1146 (1983).
- 359 J. M. Dewanckele, F. Zutterman and M. E. Vandewalle, Tetrahedron 39, 3235 (1983).
- 360 S. D. Burke, C. W. Murtiashaw, J. O. Saunders and M. S. Dike, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 872 (1982); see also, S. D. Burke, C. W. Murtiashaw and M. S. Dike, J. Org. Chem. 47, 1349 (1982).
- 361 K. Takeda, Y. Shimono and E. Yoshii, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 563 (1983).
- ³⁶² S. A. Monti and T. R. Dean, J. Org. Chem. 47, 2679 (1982).
- 363a A. S. Kende, B. Roth, P. J. Sanfilippo and T. J. Blacklock, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 5808 (1982); A. S. Kende, B. Roth and P. J. Sanfilippo, Ibid. 104, 1784 (1982).
- ³⁶⁴ J. A. Marshall and R. E. Conrow, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 5679 (1983).
- 365 E. Vogel and H. D. Roth, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 3, 228 (1964).
- 366 For example, T. Kametani, M. Tsubuki and H. Nemoto, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 759 (1980).
- 367 G. H. Posner and C. M. Lentz, Tetrahedron Lett. 3215 (1977).
- 368 A. Casares and L. A. Maldonado, Synth. Commun. 6, 11 (1976).
- 369a M. L. Leriverend and P. Leriverend, C.R. Acad. Sci. Ser. C 280, 791 (1975); M. L. Leriverend and M. Vazeux, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 866 (1982); B. Leriverend, Bull. Soc. Chim. France 3498 (1973).

 370 A. E. Greene, J.-P. Lansard, J.-L. Luche and C. Petrier, J. Org. Chem. 48, 4763 (1983).
- 371 S. Halazy, F. Zutterman and A. Krief, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 4385 (1982).
- ³⁷²⁶T. Hiyama, S. Takehara, K. Kitatani and H. Nozaki, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 3295 (1974); ^bM. Braun, R. Dammann and D. Seebach, Chem. Ber. 2368 (1975).
- ³⁷³ C. W. Bird, Y. C. Yeong and J. Hudec, Synthesis 27 (1974).
- ³⁷⁴G. Fratér, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 521 (1982).
- ^{375a} M. E. Jung and J. P. Hudspeth, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 5508 (1977); M. E. Jung and C. D. Radcliffe, Tetrahedron Lett. 21, 4397 (1980).
- ³⁷⁶ Y. Hayakawa, F. Shimizu and R. Noyori, Tetrahedron Lett. 993 (1978).
- ³⁷⁷ H. Sakurai, A. Shirahata and A. Hosomi, *Angew. Chem.* **91**, 178 (1979).

- 378 P. de Mayo and R. Suau, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 2559 (1974). 379 R. B. Mane and G. S. Krishna Rao, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1806 (1973).
- 380 L. A. Paquette, W. E. Fristad, D. S. Dime and T. R. Bailey, J. Org. Chem. 45, 3017 (1980).
- 381 S. Chandrasekaran and J. V. Turner, Tetrahedron Lett. 22, 3799 (1982).
- 382 Y. Inouye, S. Inomata, Y. Ishihara and H. Makisawa, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 55, 208 (1982).
- 383 T. Irie, T. Suzuki, Y. Yasunari, E. Kurosawa and T. Masamune, Tetrahedron 25, 459 (1969).
- 3844 R. C. Ronald, Tetrahedron Lett. 4413 (1976); B. C. Ronald, M. B. Gewali and B. P. Ronald, J. Org. Chem. 45, 2224 (1980); ^c M. B. Gewali and R. C. Ronald, J. Org. Chem. 47, 2792 (1982).
- 385 M. Suda, Tetrahedron Lett. 23, 427 (1982).
- 386 N. Masuoka, T. Kamikawa and T. Kubota, Chem. Lett. 751 (1974).
- 387 N. Masuoka and T. Kamikawa, Tetrahedron Lett. 1691 (1976).
- 388 K. Yamakawa, R. Sakaguchi, T. Nakamura and K. Watanabe, Chem. Lett. 991 (1976).
- 389 W. C. Still and M.-Y. Tsai, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 102, 3654 (1980).
- 390 M. Kodama, T. Takahashi, T. Kurihara and S. Itô, Tetrahedron Lett. 21, 2811 (1980).
- ³⁹¹ S. C. Welch, A. S. C. P. Rao, C. G. Gibbs and R. Y. Wong, J. Org. Chem. 45, 4077 (1980).
- ³⁹² R. H. Schlessinger and J. A. Schultz, J. Org. Chem. 48, 407 (1983).
- ³⁹³ W. R. Roush and T. E. D'Ambra, J. Org. Chem. 45, 3927 (1980).
- ³⁹⁴ R. H. Schlessinger and R. A. Nugent, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 1116 (1982).
- ³⁹⁵ W. R. Roush and T. E. D'Ambra, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 1058 (1983).
- ³⁹⁶ D. W. Brooks, P. G. Grothaus and H. Mazdiyasni, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105, 4472 (1983).
- ³⁹⁷ B. M. Trost and P. G. McDougal, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 6110 (1982).
- 398a E. W. Colvin, R. A. Raphael and J. S. Roberts, Chem. Commun. 858 (1971); E. W. Colvin, S. Malchenko, R. A. Raphael and J. S. Roberts, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1989 (1973).
- 399a J. Martin, W. Parker and R. A. Raphael, J. Chem. Soc. 289 (1964); J. Martin, W. Parker, B. Shroot and T. Stewart, J. Chem. Soc. (C) 101 (1967).
- 400 E. W. Colvin, S. Malchenko, R. A. Raphael and J. S. Roberts, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 658 (1978).
- ⁴⁰¹ Y. Fujimoto, S. Yokura, T. Nakamura, T. Morikawa and T. Tatsuno, Tetrahedron Lett. 2523 (1974).
- ⁴⁰² G. A. Kraus, B. Roth, K. Frazier and M. Shimagaki, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 104, 1114 (1982).
- ⁴⁰³ J. D. White, T. Matsui and J. A. Thomas, J. Org. Chem. 46, 3376 (1981).
- 404a A. J. Pearson and Chi Wi Ong, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 103, 6686 (1981); A. J. Pearson and P. R. Raithby, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 395 (1980).
- 405 P. A. Grieco, Synthesis 67 (1975).
- 406 R. A. Gammill, C. A. Wilson and T. A. Bryson, Synth. Commun. 5, 245 (1975).
- ⁴⁰⁷ P. A. Grieco and K. Hiroi, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1313 (1972).
- 408 Reference 166; see also ref. 17 in ref. 166a.
- ⁴⁰⁹ W. L. Parker and F. Johnson, J. Org. Chem. 38, 2489 (1973).
- ⁴¹⁰ J. L. Roberts, P. S. Borromeo and D. Paulter, Tetrahedron Lett. 1621 (1977).
- 411 S. Danishefsky, P. F. Schuda, T. Kitihara and S. J. Etheridge, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 6066 (1977).
- 412 J. L. Gras, Tetrahedron Lett. 2111 (1978).
- ⁴¹³ H. O. House, D. S. Crumrine, A. Y. Teranishi and H. O. Olmstead, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 3310 (1973).
- ⁴¹⁴ E. J. Corey and R. H. K. Chen, Tetrahedron Lett. 3817 (1973).
- ⁴¹⁵ R. E. Ireland, R. H. Mueller and A. K. Willard, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 2868 (1976).
- ⁴¹⁶ M. Miyashita, T. Kumazawa and A. Yoshikoshi, J. Org. Chem. 45, 2945 (1980).
- 417aS. Bernasconi, M. Ferrari, P. Gariboldi, G. Jommi, M. Sisti and R. Destro, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 1994 (1981); ^b P. Gariboldi, G. Jommi and M. Sisti, J. Org. Chem. 47, 1961 (1982).
- 418 A. de Groot, M. P. Broekhuysen, L. L. Doddema, M. C. Vollering and J. M. M. Westerbeek, Tetrahedron Lett. 4831 (1982).
- ⁴¹⁹ A. S. Kende and T. J. Blacklock, Tetrahedron Lett. 3119 (1980).
- 420 P. Magnus and G. Roy, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 822 (1979).
- 421 K. Takai, Y. Hata, K. Oshima and H. Nozaki, Tetrahedron Lett. 27, 2417 (1978).
- ⁴²² J. E. McMurry and L. A. von Beroldingen, Tetrahedron 30, 2027 (1974).
- ⁴²³ R. C. Sowerby and R. M. Coates, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 4758 (1972).
- ⁴²⁴ R. A. Moss and E. Y. Chen, J. Org. Chem. 46, 1466 (1981).
- 425 E. J. Corey and M. F. Semmelhack, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 2755 (1967).
- ⁴²⁶ F. Derguini, Y. Bessière and G. Linstrumelle, Synth. Commun. 11, 859 (1981).
- 427 C. Sreekumar, K. P. Darst and W. C. Still, J. Org. Chem. 45, 4262 (1980).
- 428a G. Wittig, H.-D. Frommeld and P. Suchanck, Angew. Chem. 75, 978 (1963); G. Stork and S. R. Dowd, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 85, 2178 (1963); see also, 'H. O. House, W. C. Lang and P. D. Weeks, J. Org. Chem. 39, 3102 (1974).

 429 H. K. Dietl and K. C. Brannock, Tetrahedron Lett. 1273 (1973).
- 430 D. A. Evans, C. L. Sims and G. C. Arrows, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 5433 (1977).
- ⁴³¹ J. E. Baldwin and J. A. Walker, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 354 (1972).